FRACKING BUSINESS AS USUAL

ANALYSIS OF THE FAILING EC RECOMMENDATION ON SHALE GAS





Friends of the Earth Europe is the largest grassroots environmental network in Europe, uniting more than 30 national organisations with thousands of local groups. We are the European arm of Friends of the Earth International which unites 74 national member organisations, some 5,000 local activist groups, and over two million supporters around the world. We campaign on today's most urgent environmental and social issues. We challenge the current model of economic and corporate globalization, and promote solutions that will help to create environmentally sustainable and socially just societies. We promote environmentally sustainable societies on the local, national, regional and global levels. We seek to increase public participation and democratic decision-making. Greater democracy is both an end in itself and is vital to the protection of the environment and the sound management of natural resources. We work towards environmental, social, economic and political justice and equal access to resources and opportunities on the local, national, regional and international levels.

> Food & Water Europe is the European programme of Food & Water Watch, a nonprofit consumer organisation based in the United States. Food & Water Europe champions healthy food and clean water for all. We stand up to corporations that put profits before people and advocate for a democracy that improves people¹s lives and protects our environment.

Lead authors: Antoine Simon (Friends of the Earth Europe) and Geert de Cock (Food & Water Europe) National contributions: Jake White and Tony Bosworth (FoE EWNI, UK), Andy Gheorghiu (Fracking frees Hessen, Germany), Eddie Mitchell (Love Leitrim, Ireland) & Tom White (Belcoo frack free, Ireland), Ewa Sufin-Jacquemart (Green Zone Foundation, Poland), Oana Catalina Poenaru (Save Bucharest Association, Romania), Alejandro González (Amigos de la tierra, Spain) & Samuel Martín-Sosa Rodríguez (Ecologistas en Accion, Spain)

Editors: Helen Burley, Paul de Clerck, Andrew Kennedy Design: Capucine Simon

This report was produced with the financial assistance of the Isvara Foundation. The content of this report are the sole responsibility of Friends of the Earth Europe and Food & Water Europe and can under no circumstances be regarded as reflecting the position of the funders

CONTENTS

Executive Summary

Introduction

I. Weaknesses in the Recommendation

- 1.1. A non-binding initiative
- 1.1.1. A predicted failure
- 1.1.2. Member states fail to take the Recommendation seriously
- 1.1.3. Unclear status of non-binding EU rules

1.2. Vague wording

- 1.2.1. Poorly defined measures
- 1.2.2. A self-regulatory approach
- 1.2.3. Limited definition of "high-volume
 - hydraulic fracturing"

1.2.4. Minimum distances and depth limitations

- 1.3. Key impacts ignored or played down
- 1.3.1. Waste water management
- 1.3.2. Chemicals
- 1.3.3. Post-operations

1.4. The poor environmental records of the 'conventional' oil and gas industry in Europe

1.5. Shale gas is unburnable carbon



(AS USU ANALYSIS OF THE FAILING EC RECOMMENDATION ON SHALE GAS

II. Failure to implement the Recommendation

- 2.1. Fracking happening despite the absence of agreement on Best Available Techniques
- 2.2. The need for an effective risk assessment
- 2.3. Member states monitoring capacity
- 2.4. Dealing with the cumulative environmental impacts of shale gas
- 2.4.1. A necessary reminder
- 2.4.2. Failure to implement the directive
- 2.5. "Ensure that an environmental impact assessment is carried out"
- 2.5.1. Shortcomings in the existing legislation
- 2.5.2. Poor implementation and direct violations
- 2.6. Public consultation: a 'tick-the-box' exercise
- 2.7. Ill-defined restricted areas
- 2.8. Fracking chemicals: unknown 2.8.1. EIA disclosure 2.8.2. No information
- 2.9. Poor assessment of seismic risks
- 2.10. Limited measures to avoid venting and flaring 2.10.1. Venting 2.10.2. Flaring
- 2.11. Lack of accountability
- 2.12. Lack of publicly available information
- III. Cost of regulation "will delay investment" 3.1. Industry vs. regulation
- 3.2. The "cost" argument
- 3.3. Profitability vs. Public health and safety
- Conclusions

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In January 2014, the European Commission asked member states to implement the principles outlined in the shale gas Recommendation within six months of publication and committed to review the effectiveness of the Recommendation after 18 months. This review is now due.

Drawing together evidence from across EU member states, alongside analysis of the Commission's own survey of member states' actions, this report finds that the Recommendation has had practically no (positive) impact (1) on the way EU member states regulate shale gas exploration and production and (2) on the measures they take to protect their citizens and the environment against potential negative impacts of shale gas. Member states seem to be exploiting the weaknesses in the Commission's Recommendation on addressing the environmental aspects of shale gas exploration and production, and failing to take adequate precautionary steps against the potential risks to the environment and people's health.

Weak and non-binding

Despite the Commission's declared intention to create a "common basis" for shale gas activities, the principles outlined in the Recommendation are non-binding, poorly defined, and create legal uncertainty about the relevance of existing EU regulations and therefore provide a very limited safeguard for the general public.

The Recommendation is also limited in its application, restricting its relevance to a narrow selection of shale gas activities – excluding tight gas and coal bed methane projects, and fails to address some of the key risks created by fracking, despite urging full consideration of environmental risks in line with public expectations.

No guidance is provided for example on how member states should deal with contaminated waste water, what measures should be taken to ensure companies provide full details of the toxic chemicals being used, how seismic risks could be considered or how member states should account for climate change emissions.

Instead the principles rely primarily on self-regulation by the shale gas industry, allowing operators to decide how best to prevent environmental and health impacts, how best to monitor the installation, and how best to protect the public. As a result, regulatory measures across the EU remain fragmented and ill-suited to the specific risks created by fracking. And while several member states are failing to implement the guidance, the Recommendation has also undermined the existing legal framework of directives related to water, waste and chemicals.

The EU's scoreboard

Evidence presented in the Commission's own survey of member state responses (the "scoreboard") reveals that only four states have taken legislative or other steps following the introduction of the Recommendation, and that these measures do not fulfil the principles set out in the Recommendation.

But the responses also reveal the limited value of the Commission scoreboard survey, which relied on voluntary responses from member states. For example, 17 states told the Commission that the Recommendation was not relevant as they had not issued or did not intend to issue licenses for fracking. Yet four of these countries are known to have already issued licenses.

Five states acknowledged plans to allow fracking, with a further six states responding that they may allow fracking. Analysis of their responses, combined with evidence from these countries, suggest that the environmental protection measures in place are piecemeal and inadequate to deal with the environmental risks.

Industry defines risks

The Recommendation's approach to risk also seems illconsidered. While member states are encouraged to ensure that potential shale gas sites are fully assessed to identify potential risks, these risks are not clearly identified. Instead, the Recommendation suggests that these will be determined by dialogue between member states and industry.

Member states are also encouraged to ensure operators use the best available techniques and practices, but again no definition is provided. Instead the Commission is planning to establish an expert group to determine what counts as best practice. Recent experience has shown that other groups set up to advice on shale issues are dominated by industry representatives and individuals with financial links to the fracking industry.

Inadequate implementation

Risk assessments, monitoring and enforcement are recommended as essential in minimising risk and preventing environmental damage, but the responses submitted to the Commission, combined with evidence from our research suggest widely differing approaches by member states.

The Recommendation advises member states to complete a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) before issuing both exploration and extraction licenses, but member states' responses show that at least five countries have already issued licences for shale gas without carrying out an SEA. An SEA carried out in the UK did not consider the specific risks created by shale gas activities.

The legal requirements to carry out an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) appear to vary between countries, with ambiguity at the EU level. Countries like Poland have even violated this regulation. The EU's EIA Directive does not consider shale gas and a call to update the directive to include shale gas was overturned.

Measures to ensure good quality of drinking water and proper treatment of waste water are not in place, and nor are there measures to prevent venting and flaring of gas. Protection of sensitive areas is very limited. Minimum distance limits are poorly defined and as a consequence, member states have failed to implement them adequately. There are no measures to hold companies liable for costs in case of damage (during or after operation).

Measures to restrict shale gas exploration in sensitive or seismic-prone areas also vary between member states, with measures providing only limited protection in some countries (eg Germany), and no protection at all in others (Spain). Evidence from the UK suggests that although some measures are in place, they are not being enforced.

Analysis of member state capacity for monitoring proposed shale gas developments suggests that many of the member states considering shale gas exploration lack adequate capacity, while in some cases, the regulatory authorities appear to have conflicts of interest in relation to shale gas (eg UK, Poland, Germany).

As a consequence, citizens are found to be poorly informed and inadequately consulted before decisions which could affect their daily life and their environment are taken. Most of the time, information about fracking, wells, planned projects and locations is not publicly available or hard to find.

Regulatory cost

The non-binding nature of the Commission's Recommendation, and the reluctance of member states to regulate shale gas exploration and extraction appear in part to be a response to industry lobbying about the costs of complying with regulation. Yet analysis by the International Energy Agency suggest that the costs of complying with key environmental mitigation measures would in fact add just 7% to the overall cost of drilling and completing a shale gas well.

In contrast, the current inadequate levels of environmental regulation have a high cost in terms of public confidence in fracking and might lead to huge environmental and health costs, paid by the taxpayers. The Recommendation urges member states to alleviate public concerns, but the evidence suggests that European citizens are right to be concerned about the safety of fracking operations in their neighbourhoods.

From this analysis, it is obvious that the Recommendation has failed to provide this much-needed regulatory framework, exposing the public to clear risks of damage to their environment. The Commission should recognise these failings in its review of the Recommendation.

The European Commission and EU member states appear to lack the political will and ability to strictly regulate the fracking industry. With mounting evidence about the negative impacts of fracking in the US and a growing recognition of the long-term risks, we believe that the precautionary principle should be at the heart of decisionmaking on fracking in Europe. As the protection of citizens and the environment cannot currently be guaranteed, we believe that no shale gas, shale oil, tight gas and coal bed methane activities should proceed.

We call on all member states to suspend all ongoing activities, to abrogate permits, and to place a ban on any new projects, whether exploration or exploitation.

In the year of the Paris climate summit (COP21) and with the impacts of climate change becoming more severe by the year, the European Union must send a strong signal to the world that it is committed to keep fossil fuels in the ground, starting with its own unconventional oil and gas resources.

INTRODUCTION

I. WEAKNESSES IN THE RECOMMENDATION

In January 2014 the European Commission presented a Recommendation to member states on ways to address the environmental aspects of shale gas exploration and production.¹ Member states were asked to implement these recommendations within a six month period, and the Commission committed to review the effectiveness of the Recommendation 18 months after publication.

The decision to issue a non-binding Recommendation was in itself controversial. While energy-related issues remain the exclusive competence of European member states, the EU has a role to play as the guardian of the EU Treaties which specify that "environmental protection requirements [are] integrated into the definition and implementation of the Union's policies and activities, in particular with a view to promoting sustainable development" (Art.11 TFEU).²

Under the EU Treaty, the EU is also bound to apply the precautionary principle where there are unknown risks from an activity.³ Evidence from the United States, where highvolume horizontal hydraulic fracturing (or fracking) for shale gas has been used widely, suggests that there are a number of associated environmental and public health risks.

The Commission has initiated a number of studies to inform its position on shale gas and other unconventional fossil fuels,4 as well as completing an impact assessment to understand the risks.⁵ A number of reports were also initiated by the European Parliament.⁶ These have also highlighted a number of potential environmental risks, as well as highlighting the lack of legislation at the EU-level designed to deal with the specific environmental impacts of unconventional fossil fuel extraction.

Lobbyists for the shale gas industry have however been keen to persuade the Commission that shale gas represents a safe and clean energy source that could increase Europe's energy security, bring down prices and provide an affordable transition to a low carbon economy.⁷ This lobby pushed hard to stop the Commission from introducing new legislation for shale gas activities and their campaign appears to have been successful.

This report examines the effectiveness of the Commission's Recommendation, drawing on research by civil society across EU member states, and on the Commission's own survey of member states on implementation of the Recommendation (published in form of a "Scoreboard" in February 2015).8 It should be noted that the information provided by member states to the Commission is very limited - although this is perhaps not surprising given the voluntary nature of the survey.

It examines the nature of the Commission's Recommendations and the way in which these Recommendations have been implemented at member state level, before addressing broader topics around the regulation of shale gas in terms of cost and the social license to operate.

Our research has found that since the Recommendation was published by the European Commission in January 2014, only four member states (Poland, the UK, Lithuania and Germany) have introduced or have launched legislative initiatives to introduce any form of legislation relating to fracking or other unconventional fossil fuels.

Those states that have taken legislative measures do not appear to have implemented the full set of principles in the Recommendation, but have instead cherry-picked the elements that best suited their plans. This makes it difficult to conclude that the Recommendation has been respected by member states.

This section examines the nature of the Recommendation and the response from member states.

1.1. A non-binding initiative

Many member states have openly expressed their 1.1.1. A predicted failure reluctance to impose additional safety and environmental The minimum principles listed in the non-binding rules on their oil and gas industry partners. Their failure to Recommendation, published in January 2014, were implement the Recommendations in full – and their limited response to the Commission's survey on implementation presented as a way to "ensure that [in the context of (the "Scoreboard")12 is not surprising and should be unconventional fossil fuel development] harmonized provisions for the protection of human health and the perceived by the European Commission as a strong signal environment apply across all Member States".9 about the weakness of system solely based on voluntary measures

Because of its non-binding nature, this initiative seemed to be doomed from start, as the European Commission recognised when it published the results of its Impact Assessment on fracking regulation.

When that assessment was done, four possible actions had been under consideration:

- Option A: a non-binding Recommendation;
- Option B: a review of existing legislation;
- Option C: a Framework Directive setting overarching goals;
- Option D: a Directive setting specific requirements covering all issues identified.

Some of the countries answering "no" were surprising. France, Ireland and Sweden, for example, had previously issued exploration permits for high-volume hydraulic The report recognised that only "the legislative options B, fracturing, although in some cases these licenses may no C and D" would be effective "in providing [a] clearer and longer be current, or may have been temporarily suspended. more predictable regulatory framework for investors and France granted 64 exploration permits before banning reassuring the public".¹⁰ The Commission however chose hydraulic fracturing on French territory in July 2011.¹³ Of Option A. these 61 permits are still valid, and could be used if there is any change in the ban on fracking; Sweden issued a three-The European Commission was therefore well aware that year shale gas exploration permit to Royal Dutch Shell in the Recommendation would unlikely result in harmonising 2008;¹⁴ and the Irish government granted exploration option legislation across Europe and could not address public licences for shale gas to Tamboran Resources PTY Ltd and to LANGCO Itd in the North West Carboniferous Basin, concerns in a proper way, but it maintained that these were the main objectives. involving high-volume hydraulic fracking¹⁵ and to Enegi Oil plc in the Clare Basin in 2011, before implementing a de Had the Recommendation been introduced as a temporary facto moratorium.

measure, as a stop-gap while legally binding provisions were discussed and introduced, it may have had some symbolic impact. This however was not the case.

1.1.2. Member states fail to take the Recommendation seriously

This lack of binding authority seriously jeopardised the European Commission's ambitions. While the Recommendation does reference possible future "legally binding provisions", it is a set of non-compulsory rules which member states "who wish to carry out exploration and production of hydrocarbons using high-volume hydraulic fracturing"¹¹ are supposed to implement if they deem it necessary.

The first question in the Commission's survey asked whether or not member states had "grant[ed] or plan[ned] to grant authorisations for the exploration or production of hydrocarbons that may require the use of high-volume hydraulic fracturing (in onshore and/or offshore operations)".

Five countries answered positively (DK, NL, UK, PL and RO), six responded "possibly" (HU, SP, LT, AU, DE, PT) while the remaining 17 member states said "no".

The Irish government chose to interpret the Commission's Recommendation as only applying to "Member States with active hydraulic fracturing industries", which due to a temporary moratorium, meant Ireland was conveniently excluded from its scope¹⁶, thereby avoiding any high level assessment under the SEA Directive.

While the Romanian authorities answered "yes", they also declared that the permits did not imply that there would be hydraulic fracturing. Yet they state that "water management permits were issued for onshore exploration of hydrocarbons that may require the use of high-volume hydraulic fracturing".¹⁷

Exploring for unconventional fossil fuels such as shale gas ultimately requires the use of some form of fracking. Any licence given for the exploration of shale gas will therefore result in some form of fracking operation at some point.

The UK, which also answered "yes", claimed that "oil and gas operators are required to carry out a hydrogeological assessment" and that "a permit for a groundwater activity may be required if there is a risk of an indirect input to groundwater". However it is unclear that there is any legally binding requirement to take these steps in the UK.

The UK also reported that thanks to the regulations in place: "there can be no unplanned release of fluids from the well" and that any fluids emerging at the surface can be adequately treated. Such promises seem overly optimistic given that scientific studies show there are inevitable impacts from waste water.18

1.1.3. Unclear status of non-binding EU rules

Several of the principles included in the Recommendation advise the enforcement of existing legislation such as the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive (2001/42/ EC), the Environmental Impact Assessment Directive (2011/92/EU), the REACH regulation (1907/2006) and the Environmental Liability Directive (2004/35/EC).

Given the poor enforcement of this legislation by some member states (see below), these references are a reminder of the minimum regulatory framework for the fracking industry.

This is however inadequate for two main reasons. Firstly, this creates a strange legal ambiguity where the EU's existing

legally-binding directives and regulations (known as the EU's acquis) appear to be only recommended or optional because of the non-binding status of the Recommendation.

Gap or potential gap	Impact	Risk associated with gap/potential gap
Gaps in legislation		
Environmental Impact Assessment Directive (2011/92/EU) Annex I threshold for gas production is above HVHF project production levels. Result: no compulsory EIA.	All, especially relevant to key impacts from landtake during preparation, noise during drilling, release to air during fracturing, traffic during fracturing and groundwater contamination	A decision on the exploration and production may not be based on an impact assessment. Public participation may not be quaranteed, permits may not be tailor-made to the situation Impacts may not be known and assessed. Measures to mitigate possible impacts may not be applied through consent process or permitting regime.
Environmental Impact Assessment Directive (2011/92/EU) Annex II no definition of deep drilling: exploration phase would not be covered under Annex II classification "Surface industrial installations for the extraction of coal, petroleum, natural gas and ores, as well as bituminous shale". Result: no compulsory EIA	All, especially relevant to key impacts from landtake during preparation, noise during drilling, release to air during fracturing, traffic during fracturing and groundwater contamination	A decision on the exploration and production may not be based on an impact assessment. Public participation may not be guaranteed, permits may not be tailor-made to the situation HVHF project involving shallow drillings not covered by EIA. For these projects, impacts may not be known and assesses. Measures to mitigate possible impacts may not be applied through consent process or permitting regime. Preventative measures may not be undertaken. Aquifers in surroundings not known, leading to unanticipated pollution.
Environmental Impact Assessment Directive (2011/92/EU) No explicit coverage of geomorphological and hydrogeological aspects, no obligation to assess geological features as part of the impact assessment	Especially relevant for groundwater contamination, seismicity, land impacts, release to air	No assessment of geological and hydrogeological conditions (e.g. natural and manmade faults, fissures, hydraulic connectivity, distance to aquifers, etc) in the frame of the impact assessment or screening, resulting in sub-optimal site selection and risks of subsequent pollution Monitoring of groundwater quality of aquifers in surrounding of the site may not be done and preventative measures not undertaken. Aquifers in surroundings not known, leading to unanticipated pollution.
Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) WFD programmes of measures are not required to be enforced until	Abstraction of water and impacts due to water contamination	Inadequate monitoring and measures to prevent these impacts

Summary of gaps and potential gaps in European legislation -2012 DG Environment report

Secondly, as the Recommendation recognises: "the Union's environmental legislation was developed at a time when high-volume hydraulic fracturing was not used in Europe". This raises a question as to whether the existing legislation is able to adequately address the impacts generated by these new technologies and related activities.

A peer-reviewed legal analysis of the UK legal framework found that "the government insists that current regulation for conventional oil and gas extraction is adequate to control fracking. However, these controls were designed pre-fracking and, [...] whilst current oil and gas regulations do not fail to offer any relevant controls, their application [for unconventional oil and gas extraction] leaves a number of gaps which may risk harm to human health and/or damage to the environment".19

The European Commission admits that certain environmental aspects associated with unconventional fossil fuel extraction "are not comprehensively addressed in *current Union legislation*". Yet these gaps, identified in EC studies²⁰ (see table ES2, above), are scarcely addressed at all in the Recommendation.

The Recommendation does recommend that "Member States should take the necessary measures to ensure that an environmental impact assessment (EIA) is carried out", yet the EIA Directive is currently phrased in such a way that unconventional fossil fuel projects are excluded from mandatory EIAs (see Chapter 2).

This illustrates how even with a strong environmental framework, the EU's existing legal framework can simply not be considered as sufficient if the legislator does not adapt it to the new realities of our modern world.

1.2. Vague wording

The recommendation lays down "minimum principles to be applied as a common basis for the exploration or production of hydrocarbons with high-volume hydraulic fracturing." Yet many of the principles are drafted in extremely vague terms, opening the doors to a wide range of interpretations by member states and seriously limiting the objective of harmonising rules across the EU.

1.2.1. Poorly defined measures

Throughout the Recommendation, crucial principles are listed but not clearly defined, leaving them open to interpretation by member states. For example, the European Commission recommends that:

"Member States should take the necessary measures to ensure that the geological formation of a site is suitable for the exploration or production of hydrocarbons using high-volume hydraulic fracturing" (point 5.1. of the Recommendation)

"Member States should ensure that operators • carry out the high-volume fracturing process in a controlled manner and with appropriate pressure management" (point 9.2.(d))

use of water resources in high-volume hydraulic fracturing" (point 9.3, of the Recommendation)

"Member States should ensure that using chemical substances in high-volume hydraulic fracturing is *minimized*" (point 10.1.(b) of the Recommendation)

"Member States should encourage operators to

use fracturing techniques that minimise water consumption and waste streams and do not use hazardous chemical substances, wherever technically feasible and sound from a human health, environment and climate perspective" (point 10.2. of the Recommendation)

Measures to mitigate some of the known impacts of unconventional fossil fuel extraction can only be effective and efficient if they are clearly adapted to the distinctive features of the industry. Nothing is said, for instance, about how to minimise the use of "chemicals substances in highvolume hydraulic fracturing". What counts as "minimised"? How many chemicals substances are allowed? The principles become even less meaningful given how practices (including quantities of chemicals substances) vary between drilling sites because of the geological characteristics.

The oil and gas industry cannot be held accountable for its activities if the standards that have been set are not clearly defined. The minimum principles listed in the document offer countless opportunities for pro-fracking authorities and oil and gas actors to use these ambiguously-phrased principles to their own advantage.

The Recommendation is an invitation to indulge in rhetorical evasion and greenwash. As a result, member states seeking to develop unconventional fossil fuel resource can claim to follow these rules while, at the same time, adopting a business-as-usual approach and doing little to mitigate the worst impacts of fracking (see Chapter 2).

1.2.2. A self-regulatory approach

Many of the minimum principles listed depend on the good intentions of oil and gas companies and on their abilities to consider all the known and possible impacts of their activities. For example, the Recommendation asks member states to ensure that:

the "operator determines the environmental status (baseline) of the installation site and its surrounding surface and underground area potentially affected by the activities"; "operators apply an integrated approach to the "Member States should promote the responsible development of a production area with the objective of preventing and reducing environmental and health impacts and risks, both for workers and the general public";

"operators develop project-specific watermanagement plans to ensure that water is used efficiently during the entire project" (ie operators define what "efficiently" means);

FUROPEAN COMMISSION IGNORES PUBLIC FEARS

The European public is legitimately concerned about this emerging body of scientific evidence. Before allowing the fracking industry to get established in Europe, the authorities should pay attention to this evidence. Several studies and reports commissioned by different departments of the European Commission have analysed the current legal situation both at the European level and at the level of different Member States in order to assess whether and how the existing regulatory frameworks were protecting public health and environmental from the impacts generated by this industry. These reports identified a number of issues as presenting a high risk for people and the environment (e.g. impacts on air, water, land and health), particularly from a cumulative perspective.²⁶ and listed significant gaps in the current European environmental framework.²⁷ They also observed vast variation in national legislation, with the "application of different and sometimes contradictory requirements" from one member state to another.²⁸

Commission's own surveys found:

In a 2013 EuroBarometer²⁹

• 74% of Europeans would be concerned if a shale gas project came to their area

• Only 9% of Europeans think that unconventional fossil fuel production should be prioritised (in sharp contrast to 70% support for renewable energy as a priority)

• In a 2013 European Public Consultation organised by the European Commission³⁰

o 64% of participants think UFF "should not be developed in Furone at all"

o 20% of participants think UFF "should be developed in Europe only if proper health and environmental safeguards are in place"

• Only 12% of participants think UFF "should be developed in Europe anyway".

It is therefore perhaps not surprising that the European public industry has failed to secure a "social licence to operate" in Europe. has shown its clear opposition to this industry. The European

This deep scepticism about fracking suggests that the fracking

to minimise air emissions" (ie operators determine which level can be considered as "minimised");

"operators carry out the high-volume fracturing process in a controlled manner and with appropriate pressure management" (ie they decide what is "controlled" and "appropriate");

"operators develop risk management plans and the measures necessary to prevent and/or mitigate the impacts, and the measures necessary for response";

"the operator regularly monitors the installation and the surrounding surface and underground area potentially affected by the operations" (ie there is no independent third party check):

"operators monitor the impacts of high-volume hydraulic fracturing on the integrity of wells" (ie authorities rely on complete transparency and cooperation from operators).

There was strong resistance from a number of member states to legally binding rules, but as a consequence the Commission and member states are vulnerable to the possibility that, for economical reasons, these companies, some of which have extremely poor environmental records,²¹ do not operate to the highest standards and as a result cause environmental damage.

Public opposition to fracking (the lack of social licence) (See Box 1) is a result of the secretive nature of this industry which uses trade secret excuses²² and gagging orders²³ to limit the level of information available to the general public - as well as its tendency to cut corners on environmental

"operators develop transport management plans standards to increase profitability, and its inability to admit the risks and impacts of its operations (in the US, the industries repeats its rhetoric on zero-contamination-case²⁴ despite mounting evidence of impacts²⁵).

> The only UK well where high-volume hydraulic fracturing has taken place at Preese Hall, Lancashire, illustrates these risks. Operations triggered earthquakes, forcing Cuadrilla to stop their activities and close the well, but Cuadrilla's experts maintained that the well had been constructed in accordance with industry standards. Documents released by the Health and Safety Executive³¹ in 2014 however showed a number of problems, including 'poor' cement in the lower section and a failure to carry out crucial checks.32

> Relying on proactive monitoring by the industry cannot be considered adequate regulation, especially for such a highrisk activity. Even the UK industry-funded "Task Force on Shale Gas"33 found that independent monitoring of wells should be compulsory to check for potential leaks, rather than allowing companies to perform the checks.³⁴ The report concluded that the UK government had failed to implement this crucial recommendation.

1.2.3. Limited definition of "high-volume hvdraulic fracturing"

In order to mark out the scope of the Recommendation, the European Commission gives a very specific definition of "high-volume hydraulic fracturing", stating that "'highvolume hydraulic fracturing' means injecting 1,000 m³ or more of water per fracturing stage or 10,000 m³ or more of water during the entire fracturing process into a well."

While this is one of the key characteristics of these operations, water consumption is not the only defining and fracturing fluid formulation".47 practice. The technique, which allows deep shale The definition also excludes in many cases the extraction rock formations to be fractured up to five kilometers of tight gas, another category of unconventional fossil fuel underground, combines four different technologies: directional drilling (wells that go down a kilometer and whose production requires systematic use of high-volume then extend horizontally for another kilometer), the use hydraulic fracturing involving water, sand and chemicals.⁴² of millions of litres of fracturing fluids including water. Because of the geology where tight gas is found, extraction proppant (such as silica sand³⁵) and toxic chemicals; the usually requires less water than shale gas production.^{43 44} use of gels and high fluid volumes at 100 barrels a minute to create "slick water" and multi-well pad and cluster drilling Tight gas is defined by the oil and gas industry as an unconventional form of gas⁴⁵ which requires more effort (with six to twelve wells from one platform).³⁶

"High-volume horizontal hydraulic fracturing" is therefore a question of geology, depth, injection pressure, water intensity, chemicals and sands, but also of technology and well density. The amount of water involved significantly varies from one drilling site to another, depending on the nature and the depth of the shale layers. These specificities were already clearly presented in studies³⁷ commissioned by the European Commission but are not present in the Recommendation.

By limiting this definition to projects above a fixed threshold for water use, the European Commission has excluded a number of fracking operations from the Recommendation's scope, including a large proportion of the existing shale gas projects in Europe:

The Cuadrilla's exploratory fracking operations for shale gas at Preese Hall in Lancashire used 8,400 m³ Shale gas and tight gas operations - while targeting of water in total.38

Several exploratory wells in Poland: the Krupe-1 well run by ExxonMobil used only 2,583 m³ of water, the Lebien LE-1 well run by ConocoPhillips and Lane Energy used only 1,452 m³ and the Stennica-1 well run by ExxonMobil only required 2,016 m³ of water.³⁹

The threshold used by the European Commission would also exclude thousands of fracking projects in the United States. As the US EPA study assessing "the Potential Impacts of Hydraulic Fracturing for Oil and Gas on Drinking Water Resources" stated, later confirmed by another study from the US Geological Survey⁴⁰: "there is wide variation within and among states and basins in the median water volumes used per well, from more than 5 million gal (19 million L) in Arkansas, Louisiana and West Virginia to less than 1 million gal (3.8 million L) in California, New Mexico, and Utah, among others. This variation results from examples from Australia show that this method is regularly



several factors, including well length, formation geology,

than conventional forms of gas "to pull it from the ground because of the extremely tight formation in which it is located. [...] Without secondary production methods, gas from a tight formation would flow at very slow rates, making production uneconomical." ⁴⁶

A July 2014 study from the German Federal Environment Agency (the Umweltbundesamt (UBA)) shows that the development of a 260 km² field will generate an estimated demand of up to 43.7 million m³ of water to extract shale gas, while it would "only" require up to 21.8 million m³ of water for tight gas extraction.⁴⁷ While this difference could, in many case, exclude tight gas production from the scope of the Recommendation, this average amount would still exceed the water needs for agricultural irrigation in some regions of Lower Saxony, for example, where supplies are already considered critical.

different kinds of impermeable rock formations - are not materially different. According to the German Chemists Society both shale gas and tight gas operations combine the multistage injection of large volumes of water and chemicals at high pressure with horizontal drilling which may exceed 2 km in length. Their report found that: "Types and volumes of fracturing fluids and chemical additives [simply vary because of] local geology".48 However, the potential impacts and risks are similar49 and therefore do not justify the effective exclusion of tight projects from the scope of the Recommendation.

Similarly, coalbed methane and coal gasification⁵⁰ appear to be excluded from the Recommendation, although several projects are being developed in the UK and Belgium, and could soon start in other countries, including France, While these projects do not systematically require fracking, used to enhance production at many sites.⁵¹

Because coalbed methane, coal gasification projects are usually done at much shallower depth, the amount of water used is usually far less than for shale gas extraction and as such, is likely to fall below the thresholds used in the Recommendation. It should also be noted that many of the extractive practices used by the coalbed methane industry, with known environmental and health impacts,⁵² are not covered in the Recommendation.

1.2.4. Minimum distances and depth limitations

The Recommendation suggests "Member States should provide clear rules on [...] minimum distances between authorised operations and residential and water-protection areas. They should also establish minimum depth limitations between the area to be fractured and groundwater." In Paragraph 5, it insists on the need for the Risk Assessment to "respect a minimum vertical separation distance between the zone to be fractured and groundwater."

But because the Recommendation leaves the definition of these distances to member states it is likely that this will



Proximity between fracking projects and a playground - Credit Nadia Steinzor

lead to a variety of biased interpretations, rather than a set of clear rules across the EU.

Where countries have defined what these minimum distances should be, they have ended up with very different numbers.⁵³ None of these decisions appear to have been

based on scientific evidence on how large the minimum distances should be.

Recent peer-reviewed health and environmental evidence can be found:

• In February 2012, a study concluded that residents living less than ½ mile (800 meters) from wells are at greater risk for health effects from natural gas development than are residents living more than ½ mile from wells.⁵⁴

• In September 2014, a further study found that people living less than 1 km far from natural-gas wells were more than twice as likely to report upper-respiratory and skin problems than those living more than 2 km far from the nearest gas well.⁵⁵

Evidence around minimum depth limitations is equally troubling. There is no scientific evidence to suggest any limitations would guarantee the safety of groundwater. Studies have however concluded that the risk for groundwater contamination is not linked to the drilling depth.⁵⁶ Instead evidence suggests risks almost inevitably arise due to ageing, corrosion, poor cement work and/or earth tremors.⁵⁷

Some countries have introduced depth limitations, despite the lack of evidence:

In the UK, the new Infrastructure bill, passed in February 2015, ensures that fracking does not take place within groundwater source protection zones at depths of less than 1,200 meters, unless the Secretary of State gives consent.⁵⁸ Such limits, measured from the surface and not from the location of groundwater reserves, put these reserves at great risk since they may be found at many different depths and could therefore be close to this 1,200 meters limit. The UK has not introduced a fixed "*buffer zone*" between oil and gas developments and residential areas, with each case to be determined by local planning authorities.

Planning permission and environmental permits have already been granted by UK authorities to undertake drilling and testing activities in a groundwater "*Source Protection Zone 2*" area; to undertake fracking around 300 metres from residential areas⁵⁹; and in major conurbations (such as Greater Manchester). In Poland, the government revised its legislation on environmental impact assessments and stated that exploratory drilling could be carried out without an assessment up to a depth of 5,000 metres.⁶⁰ The European Commission stated in February 2015 that such an exclusion from the EIA Directive was in breach of EU regulations,⁶¹ although the Polish legislation is currently still in place. And despite preliminary discussions to include a 500-meter minimum distance buffer zone from homes, the final fracking legislation⁶² did not include any reference to ensuring a safe distance from residential areas.



Proximity between fracking projects and residential areas - credits Calvin Tillman

In Germany, the proposed legal framework⁶³ on fracking offers a more protective framework with a ban on fracking for shale and coal bed methane extraction above a depth of 3,000 meters, unless an expert panel (not yet established) decides differently.⁶⁴ This possible threshold⁶⁵ excludes tight gas production, meaning it could be extracted at any depth, including inside areas such as Natura-2000 sites.

The proposed German legal framework does not mention buffer zones between authorised operations and residential In the UK, concerns have been raised about Naturally areas, or minimum vertical distances between the zone Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM) found in the to be fractured and groundwater reserves. Depending flowback from Cuadrilla's operations at Preese Hall. These on the depth and the structure of the targeted geological included naturally-occurring uranium and thorium and levels formation, and depending on the overall hydro-geological of radium 90 times higher than naturally occurs in drinking circumstances, fracking operations could potentially water.73 Cuadrilla was initially authorised to discharge this be conducted close to the groundwater horizon. More wastewater into the Manchester Ship Canal after basic recently, German authorities publicly confirmed they would treatment at a local water treatment facility.74 not consider general buffer zones and deferred possible buffer zones and minimum distances issues to federal Germany's Federal Environment Agency concluded that the authorities.66 options for environmentally-friendly treatment and disposal

In Poland, the government revised its legislation on 1.3. Key impacts ignored or played down

The Recommendation emphasises the importance of "fully considering greenhouse gas emissions and management of climate and environmental risks, including to health, in line with public expectations",⁶⁷ yet fails to address a number of relevant issues.

1.3.1. Waste water management

One of the main headaches for the shale gas industry is finding a way to deal with the millions of litres of fracking wastewater that will result from shale gas production. In the US, most flow back water from shale gas and other unconventional operations is disposed of in deep well injection sites. In Texas alone, there are more than 8,000 disposals wells⁶⁸ and another 25,000 wells that accept waste fluids.⁶⁹ On average, companies in Texas dispose of 290 million barrels of wastewater — equivalent to about 18,500 Olympic-size swimming pools — each month.⁷⁰ At the start of the shale gas boom in Pennsylvania (2008-2009), at least half of the wastewater was sent to public sewage plants, which were ill-equipped to deal with the hazardous waste. Local waterways were polluted as a result.⁷¹

The Recommendation's 'Operational requirements' however focus primarily on the issue of water availability. Member states are advised that operators should "develop project-specific water-management plans to ensure that water is used efficiently during the entire project". Little to no guidance is given on how to deal with wastewater.

The Commission is reviewing the existing reference document (BREF) on extractive waste under the Mining Waste Directive, but this will not be finalised until 2017. How to make sure that, in the meantime, the management of waste from hydrocarbon exploration and production involving high volume hydraulic fracturing is "appropriately handled and treated and the risk of water, air and soil pollution is minimised" remains unclear.⁷²

of flowback and wastewater from shale gas were recycling, discharge or disposal via deep well injection⁷⁵. But they added that "[a]t present, no process chain can be regarded as a state-of-the-art method in regard to the flowback and produced water treatment and disposal" and that "[s]o far, no company has been able to present a sustainable waste management concept." ⁷⁶

Given the seismic risk involved in deep well injection and the lack of current sites for deep well injection (see more on this in section 2.9.), EU member states cannot guarantee to local communities in the EU that wastewater won't contaminate local surface and underground water supplies. With no EU-wide standards for treated fracking wastewater, the only protection comes from a patchwork of EU environmental laws (Mining Waste Directive, Industrial Emissions Directive and the Water Framework Directive), none of which were drawn up to deal with the specific risks posed by unconventional fossil fuels.

In the case of the Water Framework Directive, shale gas activities have been excluded from some aspects of the legislation, which is supposed to prevent the deterioration of water quality and protect, enhance and restore water bodies in Europe. A guidance note from the Commission states that Article 11 (3) (j) "does not apply to shale gas activities" but only to conventional hydrocarbon operations.⁷⁷ This article is designed to ensure that flowback or produced water containing pollutants is not directly discharged into geological formations containing groundwater (Article 11(3) (j) of the Water Framework Directive).⁷⁸

The provisions of the Mining Waste Directive, which apply to the disposal of solid, slurry and liquid wastes resulting from extractive activities, including hydrocarbons exploration and production, do however apply to shale gas activities. The status given to these fracking wastes remain however extremely unclear. The Commission appears to think that the injection of flowback resulting from fracking operations - without any treatment - is still prohibited under the Water Framework Directive. After the flowback surfaces, the operator needs to ship the waste water to a waste facility and must be treated in line with the requirements of the Mining Waste Directive. If the flowback contains hazardous waste (NORMs, heavy metals, aromatic hydrocarbons like benzene), the flowback needs to be shipped to specialized, class A waste treatment facilities. Once treated, and the waste water is of an "acceptable standard", it can be reinjected into appropriate geological formations.

This poses a number of issues. Nothing in the Recommendation or in the existing legislation indicates what is an acceptable level of treatment. If there are NORMs in the waste water, is simply diluting the flowback with other waste water sufficient? At which point is flowback no longer flowback, but transforms into "*injection of water containing substances resulting from the operations for exploration and extraction of hydrocarbons or mining activities*" (which can be injected into geological formations under article 11(3) (j)?



Open waste water storage pond - Credits NETL.gov

Secondly, evidence suggests that the authorities at member state level do not have sufficient information about the geological and hydrogeological characteristics of potential waste facilities to make informed decisions, and need to follow a case-by-case approach. This would not be feasible if there was large-scale development of this industry requiring decisions about thousands of wells.

By failing to address crucial issues such as the status of the fracking fluids that remain underground or the quality of the treated fracking wastewater that can be discharged, the European Commission fails to properly enforce the Water Framework Directive and other more specific water-related EU legislation. Article 6 (3) of the Groundwater Directive indicates that "Member States must ensure that the programme of measures includes all the measures necessary to prevent or limit inputs into groundwater of pollutants" which a report to the Commission noted "could in principle involve the prevention of hydraulic fracturing operations, should the latter involve the injection underground of pollutants".⁷⁹

The implications are that member states may not fulfill their legal obligations to prevent the deterioration of water quality and to protect, enhance and restore water bodies in Europe

There also remains a question as to whether there are sufficient water treatment plants in the EU's shale plays that are suitable for treating waste water from shale gas activities..

The flowback and the produced water from fracking operations are brines, i.e. water with a very high salinity. In addition, formation water can contain a number of dissolved and trace substances, such as heavy metals, aromatic hydrocarbons, dissolved gases and NORMs and biocides. This mix – which varies from one well to another - poses a real challenge for water treatment plant operators. Many cases of water contamination due to only partial treatment of fracking wastes have been documented in the US.⁸⁰ This issue was raised by the European Parliament in November 2012, but has not been answered.⁸¹

1.3.2. Chemicals

The Recommendation acknowledges that the EU's environmental legislation pre-dates fracking and therefore does not address all of the environmental aspects associated with the exploration and production of unconventional hydrocarbons. One of the areas not covered is the transparency regarding the chemicals used by the industry.

The European Commission has advised member states activities of the oil and gas industry. to "ensure that manufacturers, importers and downstream users of chemical substances used in hydraulic fracturing By putting responsibility for providing greater transparency refer to 'hydraulic fracturing' when complying with their about the chemicals used with the operators, the obligations under" the REACH regulation.⁸² This puts the Recommendation (15.1) fails to make public authorities responsibility for ensuring transparency on the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) but, as recognised by the responsible for monitoring and compliance. European Commission, no companies have declared in One incident in May 2015 in Denmark, whereby operators of the registration procedure that their products are for use in the licence holder Total failed to receive approval for some hvdraulic fracturing.83

The European Commission and the ECHA have been trying to adapt the REACH framework to ensure that chemicals

for fracking are declared.⁸⁴ However the ECHA conceded in March 2015 that "*it will not be compulsory for firms to flag that chemicals are being used for fracking*" and that "*no immediate action [was] planned*" if firms did not disclose the information.⁸⁵

European authorities therefore seem unlikely to be able to fulfill the advice in the Recommendation that member states should ensure that "the operator publicly disseminates information on the chemical substances and volumes of water that are intended to be used and are finally used for the high-volume hydraulic fracturing of each well".

From our discussions with the European Commission and ECHA, it seems that it will take another two to three years before there will be an easily searchable REACH database that will allow European authorities and the public to identify all the chemicals that can be used and already have been used for the purpose of fracking in the EU.

In the meantime, the only transparency mechanism that exists is the International Association of Oil and Gas Producer website: http://www.ngsfacts.org/. This is a voluntary initiative, and so cannot be enforced, does not include some key shale gas operators in the EU (Cuadrilla, INEOS and Celtique's UK operations, and San Leon Energy and PGNiG's operations in Poland are not included); and disclosures are only made for wells "that have been hydraulically fractured" – releasing details of the chemicals used after fracking has taken place.

In the US, the Halliburton Loophole exempted "the underground injection of fluids or propping agents (other than diesel fuels) pursuant to hydraulic fracturing operations related to oil, gas, or geothermal production activities" from key pieces of American federal environmental law, such as Safe Drinking Water Act.⁸⁶ This left the control of the fracking boom to state authorities, which were unprepared (and/or unwilling) to apply strict controls on the fracking activities of the oil and gas industry.

One incident in May 2015 in Denmark, whereby operators of the licence holder Total failed to receive approval for some chemicals used in their drilling and fracking operations, demonstrates that public authorities - i.e. not private operators - should be closely monitoring the chemicals involved in the fracking process.⁸⁷ The Recommendation should also require competent authorities to take the lead in publishing information about the number of wells, the shale gas operators, baselines studies and monitoring results, as well as "the precise composition of the fracturing fluid used for each well" (point 15.2). The failure to include this suggests the European Commission gave into industry pressure, essentially creating the EU's version of the Halliburton loophole.

Despite the issue of the use of potentially toxic chemicals used in fracking fluids having been raised with the European Commission and member states in 2012,88 no meaningful steps have been taken to make sure that fracking does not use chemicals with toxic, carcinogenic, mutagenic or endocrine-disrupting properties.

The Recommendation should also be more specific about when chemicals that "are intended to be used and are finally used for the high-volume hydraulic fracturing of each well" should be disclosed. For example, in Poland, authorities only receive this information after fracking has taken place.

Communities still have no way of knowing which chemicals are being used in their area, unless the information is disclosed voluntarily by the operators. Nor is there any evidence on the ground that member states are taking concrete steps to push "operators to use fracturing techniques that [...] do not use hazardous chemical substances, wherever technically feasible and sound from a human health, environment and climate perspective", as recommended (point 10.1.(c)).

The European Commission, via the Joint Research Center (JRC), has dedicated a working group in its European Science and Technology Network on Unconventional Hydrocarbon Extraction to assessing the "economic, environmental and climate change related pros and cons in comparison to currently used fracturing techniques", but this data-gathering exercise will take time.89

Keen to allay public concerns, the unconventional oil and gas industry has made public claims about its efforts to move towards chemical-free fracking. The chief executive of Tamboran Resources, Richard Moorman, announced the company's commitment to chemical-free fracking in 2011.⁹⁰ Exxon has advertised that its fracking fluids will only be composed of water, sand and choline chloride and a glycol ether such as butoxyethoxy-ethanol in Germany.91

But if fracking is possible with just two chemicals, why is this not the approach used everywhere?

Using chemical-free technologies would also not eliminate all the naturally-occurring radioactive materials, volatile organic compounds and heavy metals naturally present in the ground (radium, barium, chloride, strontium, arsenic, selenium, chromium, iodide, mercury, ammonium, etc) that are reactivated during the fracking process and which come back up to the surface with the fracking fluid in the end, and which can exceed safety and quality thresholds.92

1.3.3. Post-operations

The Recommendation acknowledges that environmental impacts may arise at different stages of a well's life (section 9). This suggests the need for some form of monitoring activities throughout the process.

In fact the Recommendation suggests that "Member States should ensure that operators ensure well integrity through well design, construction and integrity tests". These should continue "at all stages of project development and after well closure".

The Recommendation does not however specify how long these tests should continue, particularly after the end of the production phase and the ceiling of the well.

Up to 90% of the fracking fluid (made of millions of litres of water, and of tons of sands and toxic chemicals) injected during each fracking operation stays in the ground because it is either not technically or economically feasible to recover it with existing technologies.93 These waste materials mix with substances naturally present in the ground, including heavy metals and radioactive elements, and they remain in the ground once the well has reached the end of its life. This means these substances affect underground equipment, causing corrosion, and potentially finding their way back to the surface, where they could contaminate soils, ground and surface water, or come into contact with humans.94

Checks can help identify problems with well integrity once operations have ceased, and allow operators to fix these problems where technically feasible. However, fixing a well failure is costly and technically difficult so operators may not be able to guarantee this. And the Recommendation does not specify how long these tests should run for, or whether they should be run indefinitely.

Considering the quantities of toxic waste left in the ground the safety of the local communities had not been a priority after operations end, wells remain a danger even postoperation. Evidence from elsewhere suggests that the time period for operator liability should be explicitly included in legislation. For example, in the state of Maryland, US, operators are required by legislation to carry a \$10 million insurance policy that extends six years beyond the drilling operation to cover future liabilities.95

There is no evidence that the risks decrease six years after the end of drilling operations and in the absence of such evidence. The best way to ensure adequate precaution against contamination and clean-up is, for monitoring, to continue indefinitely and to include in law companies' liability for damages occurring post-operation.

1.4. The poor environmental records of the 'conventional' oil and gas industry in Europe

The poor environmental record of fracking in the US is driving the concerns of the European communities affected by fracking. However, the experience of communities living with the conventional oil and gas industry here in Europe does little to inspire confidence that the risks of oil and gas activities in densely populated areas could be adequately mitigated.

Germany provides an interesting illustration. The German legislative environmental framework is perceived to be among the most stringent, in particular regarding the protection of the quality of its drinking water reserves. However, the existing legislation has not even succeeded to mitigate the risks and impacts of "conventional' oil and gas activities in Germany, considered to have a much lower "risk-profile" than fracking operations. This has resulted in a number of environmental incidents.96

Mining authorities⁹⁷, grassroots groups and environmental organisations have documented numerous leaks from wastewater pipelines (connected to water and soil contamination) and earthquakes. Questions about the toxicity of old mud pits and the health impacts generated by the oil and gas extraction activities are now being raised and Germany is starting to look at possible contamination and health impacts related to the oil and gas industry.98

In the Netherlands – which also has a strong regulatory and planning decisions - the link between earthquakes and decades of gas extraction in the Groningen gas field was denied for years. Gas extraction continued, even though local communities raised the alarm over repeated seismic tremors and important damages on public and private buildings.⁹⁹ In early 2015, a leaked report concluded that

for the Dutch National Oil Company (Nationale Aardolie Maatschappii: owned by Shell and Exxon), whose mandate was focused on maximising revenues from the Dutch gas operations. The report concluded that the Dutch mining authority and the Economics Ministry failed in their duty to monitor the risks involved in gas extraction and that the links between corporate and the public interest were too close.100

1.5. Shale gas is unburnable carbon

Most crucially, the large-scale development of unconventional gas sources in the EU (or elsewhere) over the next two decades does not meet the scientific need for deep cuts in greenhouse gas emissions. In order to limit global warming below 2 degrees Celsius, as agreed by the global community under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) to prevent dangerous climate change, the use of fossil fuels must be phased out as quickly as possible.

Extracting and burning fracked gas will release significantly more carbon dioxide than the world can afford. To avoid the irreversible effects of climate change, almost all of the natural gas that could be extracted by fracking must stay underground, unburned. Even if aggressive global action is taken to phase out the use of oil and coal.

It is widely accepted that no more than one-third of proven reserves of fossil fuels can be consumed prior to 2050 if the world is to have a more than 50-50 chance of avoiding 2 degrees Celsius of warming.¹⁰¹ But this statistic understates the problem.

First, it is based on proven reserves — which do not include most of the fracked gas, fracked oil, Arctic oil and tar sands oil now being targeted by oil and gas developers. As a result almost all of this oil and gas must stay underground.

Second, this estimate of "unburnable" proven reserves derives from dated climate science, and the 2-degree threshold is itself widely considered too permissive. More recent science is clear that surpassing even 1.5 degrees of warming will lead to unacceptable impacts, particularly in the Global South.

Put simply, we cannot afford to continue down an energy path that relies on fossil fuels if we are to maintain the stability of our climate and the health of the planet. It is impossible to ignore the links between climate change and the development of new fossil fuel resources.

II. FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT THE RECOMMENDATION

As Professor David Mackay, the UK government's former Chief Scientific Advisor on Energy and Climate Change, said: "if a country brings any additional fossil fuel reserve into production, then in the absence of strong climate policies. we believe it is likely that this production would increase cumulative emissions in the long run. This increase would work against global efforts on climate change."102

Furthermore, the methods used to extract unconventional fossil fuels have been shown to exacerbate emissions.¹⁰³ Yet vested interests have succeeded in convincing many governments that fracking for shale gas is a harmless "bridging fuel" in the shift to renewables.

However, fugitive methane emissions throughout the natural gas lifecycle have been shown to be much higher than official estimates, calling particularly into question the climate benefits of switching from coal to gas in power generation. Studies in the US have shown substantial leakage from upstream oil and gas installations,¹⁰⁴ and at least 50% more methane escaping from drilling operations across the US than assumed by official Environment Protection Agency estimates.¹⁰⁵

In addition, the climate impacts of methane are usually assessed over 100 years, but over a 20-year period, methane is more than twice as potent a greenhouse gas, with a global warming potential 86 times greater than carbon dioxide.¹⁰⁶ Given the urgency of climate change and the short window of opportunity to curb fossil fuel use, this knowledge further calls into question the role of natural gas as a bridging fuel.

A recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report found that "[greenhouse gas] emissions from energy supply can be reduced significantly by replacing current world average coal-fired power plants with modern. highly efficient natural gas combined-cycle power plants".

The shale gas industry in Europe has misconstrued this statement as support for fracking, ignoring two important caveats:

(1) This depends on an immediate switch from coal to gas. But pro-fracking governments in the US and Poland have not linked shale gas development to a phase-out of coal. Since the beginning of the shale gas boom in the US, coal



production has remained almost stable and instead, coal exports have increased (see figure 1).

(2) These climate benefits depend on "fugitive emissions associated with extraction and supply [being]... low or mitigated". Fugitive methane emissions at some sites in the US have been shown to be up to 1,000 times higher than previously estimated.¹⁰⁷ Recent academic studies have shown that shale gas production fields could leak on average some 6 to 12% of the methane¹⁰⁸ while natural gas has a higher carbon footprint than coal beyond 3.2% of methane leakage.109

Instead of focusing on shale gas and other unconventional gas resources to boost indigenous consumption, the EU and the European Commission should focus on accelerating the deployment of renewables and improving energy efficiency, so as to reduce both greenhouse gas emissions and gas consumption. Projections show that across a range of possible climate policies, abundant natural gas decreases the future use of renewable energy technologies.¹¹⁰ Scientific findings also show that without carbon capture and storage (CCS) technologies, natural gas power plants cannot achieve the deep emissions reductions required to avoid a substantial contribution to additional global warming. Shale and renewables are not complementary.111

It is deeply concerning to see, through the Recommendation, the promotion of an industry which would delay the real transition to the decarbonised economy that we need in order to fight climate change and show the example to the rest of the world.

Despite the flaws identified in the Recommendation, it does than 70% of members either represent fracking industry's interests or have financial links to the fracking industry. define key procedures and practices for member states developing shale gas resources to follow. This include the Two-thirds of academics and research organisations need to follow best practice, the need to undertake a proper involved have links to the fracking industry while less than risk assessment, including an Strategic Environmental 10% of members are from civil society. The chairs of the Assessment and an Environmental Impact Assessment, four working group (who have been given a mandate to and the need for member states to ensure they have "summarize, harmonize and approve" the working groups' outputs¹¹³) are fracking proponents, who in some cases adequate capacity to monitor developments and ensure have even lobbied against stronger safety rules.¹¹⁴ There these procedures and practices are being followed. are strong and serious concerns that the unbalanced Yet, a review of the activities of member states, including composition of this group will not result in advice that will be the member states' responses to the Commission's survey in the best interest of potentially affected citizens and the on implementation, suggest this is not the case. environment but rather in the interest of the gas industry.

2.1. Fracking happening despite the absence of agreement on Best Available Techniques

Operators are advised in the Recommendation to use best available techniques (BATs) and practices (point 9.1). However, the Recommendation also states that identifying BATs will depend on "the relevant results of the information exchange between Member States, industries concerned and non-governmental organisations promoting environmental protection organised by the Commission". This process is intended to develop a new "Best Available Techniques Reference Document" (BREF).¹¹² However, this process raises concerns.



Fire on McDowell B well site near Wetzel County burned 9 days -Credits Ed Wade, provided by the FrackTracker Alliand

The recently created expert group, established by the European Commission to gather data on shale gas development in Europe, and to assess and prioritise the most attractive fracking technology for Europe, provides an interesting illustration of what could happen to the expert group in charge of developing BATs. This data expert group is predominantly made up of industry representatives. More

As mentioned in the Recommendation, the BREF "on hydrocarbon exploration and extraction is currently under development at EU level". In other words, it means that the Recommendation's rules on Best Available Techniques and on risks to be considered during impact assessment are based on discussions which have not even started yet. The only expert group currently looking at best practice is focused on the management of extractive waste, but these discussions are still ongoing, concern only one very specific aspect of the topic and will only be finalised in 2017.

Meanwhile, the 'best practice' implemented in a number of European countries reveal environmental problems. In the UK, for instance, venting for up to six months was proposed by gas at the Barton Moss site¹¹⁵ while flaring of over 100.000 tonnes at the Cuadrilla Lancashire frack sites was permitted by the Environment Agency.

2.2. The need for an effective risk assessment

According to the Recommendation, the way in which the risk assessment is defined and understood is crucial. The European Commission states (5.4) that "a site should only be selected [by Member States] if the risk assessment conducted shows that the high-volume hydraulic fracturing will not result in a direct discharge of pollutants into groundwater and that no damage is caused to other activities around the installation".

The key findings on the impacts of the fracking industry documented by the scientific community over the past three to four years have confirmed the public's concerns.¹¹⁶

Of the 550 peer-reviewed studies, commentaries and reviews published on fracking:

84% of the studies on health impacts identified potential public health risks or actual observed poor public health outcomes:

69% of the studies on water quality showed potential, positive association, or actual incidence of water contamination associated with shale gas development;
 88% of the studies on air quality indicated elevated levels of air pollutant emissions and/or increased atmospheric concentrations.¹¹⁷

These impacts can be caused by different factors, and while some could certainly be limited by better practices, others seem to be almost inevitable.

Even with best practice, human mistakes cannot be avoided. And while this is true for any industrial activity, the risks for a large-scale industry such as fracking, are magnified because of the unprecedented well density, which multiplies the risk of human mistakes and consequently makes monitoring more difficult.

Extracting unconventional fossil fuels involves an inherent deterioration of the equipment and materials used during operations, either because of the physical demands (injection pressure, earth tremors), or as a result of ageing (corrosion from contact with chemicals and heavy concentration of salted water).

Schlumberger, the world's largest oilfield services company, suggested that these pressure and ageing effects were responsible for the failure of 6% of drilled wells during their first year, and for the fact that up to 50% of the wells failed after 15 years see Table).¹¹⁸

Surveys done by the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) have shown that 97 wells of the 1,609 drilled in 2010 had failed (6%), that 7% of wells failed in 2011,and 9% wells drilled in 2012 failed (8.9%).¹¹⁹

Well failures inevitably affect the surrounding environment. In Pennsylvania the DEP found that companies prospecting for oil or gas had contaminated private drinking water wells in 243 cases.¹²⁰

A risk assessment cannot guarantee that "high-volume hydraulic fracturing will not result in a direct discharge of pollutants into groundwater and that no damage is caused to other activities around the installation" (as suggested by the Recommendation).



Wells with Sustained Casing Pressure (SCP) by age. Percentage of wells with SCP for wells in the outer continental shelf (OCS) area of the Gulf of Mexico, grouped by age of the wells.

Given the inevitable risks, it is difficult to see how the Recommendation intended risk assessments to be completed. A full assessment of the risks would inevitably highlight an unacceptable risk to ground water.

The EC Recommendation however asks authorities and companies to make sure risks are well understood and taken in consideration. However, the definition of the risks is "based on [...] the relevant results of the information exchange between Member States, industries concerned and environmental NGOs organised by the Commission". This means that, just like with the BATs, the definition of risks is subject to the interpretation of industry-captured expert groups and has not been finalised.

2.3. Member states monitoring capacity

Arguably, the most important part of legislation is not what is written in the text, but how it is enforced. Yet evidence suggest that even if strong and binding legislation was in place to regulate fracking, member states' lack the capacity (and the independence needed) to monitor and enforce the rules.

The European Commission recognised this in the Recommendation (chapter 13) asking member states to (1) "ensure that the competent authorities have adequate human, technical and financial resources to carry out their duties" and to (2) "prevent conflicts of interest between the regulatory function of competent authorities and their

function relating to the economic development of the resources".¹²¹ Evidence from European countries suggests that these two recommendations are not being met.

United Kingdom:

The UK told the Commission that "competent authorities have adequate resources to carry out their duties in relation to the exploration of hydrocarbons using high volume hydraulic fracturing, which represents the current stage of development of the industry in the UK".

The main authority in charge of monitoring the implementation of these rules in the UK is the Environment Agency (EA). However there are indications that it is not fulfilling its task:

• Despite industry's plans to "*drill up to 4000 laterals* (*horizontal wells*) *over an 18 year timeframe*" ¹²² (which has been welcomed by a UK government)¹²³, the EA has been cutting its staff since the beginning of 2014, threatening 1,200 jobs in total,¹²⁴ and budgets have been significantly curtailed. Since 2009-10, unions estimate that the EA's budget has been cut by 25%.¹²⁵ Yet, the UK government refuses to answer whether these cuts have affected its ability to enforce its – supposedly – 'world class' regulations.

• There are also a number of conflicts of interest within the EA. Its current chairman, Sir Philip Dilley, was nominated by the UK government and took up his post in September 2014. Until April 2014, he was the chairman of Arup, an engineering firm that has been employed to write environmental reports on fracking for the oil and gas company Cuadrilla.¹²⁶ The EA granted permits for fracking to Cuadrilla in January 2015,¹²⁷ the first since fracking development was put on hold after Cuadrilla's activities in Lancashire led to earthquakes in 2011.¹²⁸

• In December 2014, an independent investigation revealed that the EA's pension fund, worth £2.3bn, held significant investments in companies investing in fracking, including "£50m direct investments in oil and gas companies such as Shell, BP and BG Group, as well as millions more in indirect oil and gas funds".¹²⁹

These obvious conflicts of interest suggest the UK cannot *corruption risk.*" guarantee the independence of its monitoring authority.

The UK authorities told the European Commission that they "have strict controls in place to ensure on-site safety".¹³⁰ Yet Lancashire County Council's Director of Public Health reported that there were "no specific occupational health standards for onshore oil and gas extraction" and that

Cuadrilla had to put forward its own framework for operation in Lancashire.¹³¹ Serious questions exist as to whether the authorities involved have the capacity or the expertise required.

This fear was confirmed by the independent (but industryfunded) Task Force on Shale Gas which stated the importance when monitoring of it "not to rely solely on self-monitoring and self-reporting by the operator, but must include regular (and sometimes random) visit and inspections by the regulators. This does happen to an extent at present, but should be more actively pursued in future".¹³²

Poland:

The Polish authorities also told the European Commission that their national authorities were meeting the standards recommended, although they provided no details to support their answers.

However in 2014 the Polish Supreme Audit Office (NIK) published a report evaluating the activities of both the public administration and private entrepreneurs searching for shale gas deposits in Poland.¹³³ As part of this analysis, NIK highlighted a number of irregularities:

• "No government representative for hydrocarbons extraction development was appointed. That person was supposed among others to develop economic, legal and strategic concepts as well as initiate, coordinate and monitor actions related to the search, identification and extraction of shale gas"; and

• "Despite declarations, the Ministry of Environment did not treat the issue of shale gas search as a priority. For instance, in 2007-2012 there were only three persons responsible for the issue of licences for shale gas search. The Minister of Environment issued administrative decisions related to the licences for shale gas search and (or) identification with significant delays (132 days on average where the law required 30 days). Applicants were treated unequally. Some applications were reviewed despite being incomplete or unreliable. Such practices could point to high corruption risk."

The previous year, in August 2013, Polish prosecutors indicted seven people, including three officials from the environment ministry, an employee of the Polish Geological Institute and three gas company representatives, with 11 charges of active and passive corruption in connection with licenses to explore and exploit shale gas deposits in Poland.¹³⁴ The Environment Ministry and State Geological Institute officials accepted bribes ranging from 13,000 zlotys (\$4,100) to 55,000 zlotys for helping companies win shale gas concessions.135

The relationship between the Geological Institute and the fracking industry came under scrutiny when Grzegorz Pieńkowski, a prominent member of the Polish Geological Institute and Chair of an EC expert group on shale gas, said that "the environmental risks associated with hydraulic fracturing presented on social media is greatly exaggerated or even completely off the mark" and that he was willing group "to demonstrate the absence of environmental risks greater than those that appear in the case of conventional hydrocarbon exploitation".136

The most active oil and gas operators in Poland are stateowned companies including PGNiG. PKN Orlen, and Grupa Lotos. These companies have directly benefited from government investment in the sector,¹³⁷ while some have also been found guilty of illegal market practices.¹³⁸

Given that the Polish environmental minister was also replaced to fast track the development of this industry, 139 it is difficult to see how "conflicts of interest between the regulatory function of competent authorities and their function relating to the economic development of the resources" can be prevented.

Germany:

In 2012 the German Federal Environment Agency (the Umweltbundesamt (UBA)) concluded that the data used to assess fracking fluids in Germany was "inadequate".¹⁴⁰ The agency found: "For only 28 of the fracking fluids used in Germany between 1983 and 2011 was it possible to determine the additives used". This represents only around a quarter of the approximately 300 fracking measures carried out in Germany in that period.¹⁴¹ An expert group from the German Chemical Society currently stressed that "even if HF additives were fully declared, additional research is needed to characterize subsurface transformation products, geogenic substances, and their overall toxicity which all are site-specific."142

The German proposal to regulate the fracking industry currently being discussed does not however really seem to meet the most crucial Recommendation's requirements such as those related to administrative capacities. Germany has proposed establishing an expert panel to decide whether or not research projects and in future commercial projects can be carried out in areas/zones where fracking operations are otherwise banned (shale gas and coal bed methane projects). However, some of the representatives who will make up the panel come from organisations that have already declared their support for unconventional gas development by signing the Hanover Declaration (eg the Helmholtz-Zentrum für Umweltforschung and the Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources).143

Dr. Hans-Joachim Kümpel, the director of the Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources (BGR), said in September 2014 that "often dangers are evoked that simply do not exist. The use of fracking for natural gas production arouses widespread fear amongst the population, fear that from a geological perspective is largely unfounded".144

Such position from an institution which could, in a close future, decide on whether fracking projects could be authorised in areas where fracking should normally be banned raises serious questions about the neutrality and objectivity of this expert panel. Furthermore, the BGR shares a common administration and infrastructure with Lower Saxony's mining authority.145 If this body is eventually kept in the final version of the text, Germany would clearly not fulfil its duty to avoid conflicts of interest from certain competent authorities.

There are also concerns about Germany's "human, technical and financial" capacity. The German government has transferred responsibility for the baseline studies and monitoring processes to either the mentioned expert panel or to federal level mining and water authorities. The biggest mining authority in Germany, for example, is the Landesamt für Bergbau, Energie & Geologie in Lower Saxony¹⁴⁶, which has approximately 300 employees who are responsible for all mining activities in Lower Saxony, Hamburg, Bremen and Schleswig-Holstein. The agency is already considered to be understaffed, but will see its workload increase with added responsibilities for shale and tight gas development.



Aerial view of cumulative impacts of fracking in Texas - Credits Amv Youngs

Romania:

The lack of "adequate technical expertise" is also a problem in Romania. Confronted with the need to carry out an environmental assessment for four drilling wells in the Barlad region (Pungesti, Bacesti, Gagesti and Puiesti), the local environmental authority asked for national authority help. According to the national regulations, when environmental agencies lack expertise in certain areas they may hire specialist advisors - but this did not happen in the Barlad region..

Denmark:

In the Scoreboard, Denmark acknowledges that its human, technical and financial resources will have to "be evaluated in case of commercial production. A production phase requires further human, technical and financial resources in the state administration."147 This shows that the Danish authorities are allowing the fracking industry to proceed¹⁴⁸ while they have only very limited in-house expertise on the issue.

Spain:

The Spanish response shown in the Scoreboard raise a further question as to whether the information given is meaningful. The Spanish authorities said that thanks to

the environmental impact assessment (EIA) process, "measures [were] in place to ensure that operators regularly monitor the installation and the surrounding surface and underground area potentially affected by the operations" during the exploration and production phases. But the EIA process cannot guarantee that installations will be properly monitored during and after the operations.

Such a guarantee can only be made through adequate legislation requiring monitoring, and not by adapting legislation without acknowledging the specificities of the fracking industry, or by relying on an uncertain case-bycase approach (See more details below in the EIA subchapter).

2.4. Dealing with the cumulative environmental impacts of shale gas

The International Energy Agency (IEA) has recommended countries to "Think Big" when it came to regulation, as "the scale of the industrial operation required for a given volume of unconventional output is much larger than for conventional production. This means that drilling and production activities can be considerably more invasive, involving a generally larger footprint." 149

THE POLISH GOVERNMENT'S 'ALIBI STUDY' ON THE "ASSESSMENT OF HAZARDS TO THE ENVIRONMENT RESULTING FROM THE EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION OF HYDROCARBONS FROM UNCONVENTIONAL DEPOSITS"

In April 2015, the Polish Environment Ministry announced that Examining the details of the study it becomes clear that the seven shale gas exploration had "not significantly affected the state of sites have not been analysed using the same methodology. the environment".¹⁵⁶ Polish authorities claimed that their research Baseline data from the very start was only gathered at two of the - based on measurements from seven shale gas wells - provided seven sites. Elsewhere data was only gathered after drilling had proof that the environmental impacts of fracking in Poland were already started, or, in one case, while hydraulic fracturing was manageable. Michał Kielsznia, Director General for Environmental already taking place. Without comparable data, it is difficult to Protection, said:

environmental effects of entrepreneurs' gas extraction operations. These conjectures or speculations were made in the absence of a unique source of data from tests made in the field." ¹⁵⁷

Did this research project deliver on its ambition to reassure the after drilling had stopped. public about the not very 'significant' environmental impacts of fracking? There appears to be a lack of coherence between the There are also questions about the independence of the research. study's 14 general conclusions (announced to the public) and the The four institutions involved in the study¹⁵⁸ have all advocated data inside the report.

structure of the Lublin shale basin and suggest that the different have made public statements supporting the 'sustainability of shale faults there should be studied separately. They also highlight a lack gas operations.¹⁵⁹ The Mining institute in Krakow and the Gdansk of data. Yet, the report draws the conclusion that there is sufficient Institute of Technology (focused on engineering, chemistry, etc ...), distance and an impermeable cap rock between the groundwater clearly share this pro-shale bias¹⁶⁰. and the shale layers.

assess what the impacts were.

"In recent years, the mass media have speculated about potential The study also fails to acknowledge the cumulative impacts of fracking at multiple wells in any one location. The wells studied were at some distance from each other. The long-term impacts unbiased reliable information and related studies. The purpose of of fracking were also not assessed, as none of the sites included the project was obvious - to meet public expectations by providing a study of the post-abandonment phase. On all the sites, except one, research was finalised before the site was abandoned. Researchers returned to just one site to measure impacts 2.5 years

in favour of shale gas exploitation. The Directorate-General for Environmental Protection works for an openly pro-shale For instance, the report authors raise questions about the complex government. The Polish Geological Institute and its employees

This is why one of the IEA's "Seven Golden Rules" calls for public authorities to conduct "early strategic assessments and timely interventions".

The Recommendation also makes clear that any member state wanting to develop shale gas, "should prepare a strategic environmental impact assessment [...] on the basis of the requirements for Directive 2001/42/EC" (point 3.1) and that a Strategic Environmental Assessments (SEA) should be prepared "[b]efore granting licenses for exploration and/or production of hydrocarbons which may lead to the use of high-volume hydraulic fracturing".

2.4.1. A necessary reminder

Strategic Environmental Assessments (SEAs) involve preparing "an environmental report in which the likely significant effects on the environment and the reasonable alternatives of the proposed plan or programme are identified. The public and the environmental authorities are informed and consulted on the draft plan or programme and the environmental report prepared." 150

SEAs are required both for the exploration and the extraction phase, and should therefore be conducted before the beginning of the exploration stage. Given the possible

scale of the industry (hundreds to thousands of wells once production starts), environmental assessments should be based on the possibility of large-scale development and not just on the few wells drilled in the exploration phase. Serious impacts can occur during the exploration phase (building the drill site, seismicity tests, preliminary drillings, etc), and these should be considered as part of the SEA.

An SEA should also be prepared before any licences are granted and whenever high volume hydraulic fracturing "may" be used. The Recommendation clearly indicates that an SEA should have been carried out before any shale gas exploration licences are issued. And while the Recommendation is not binding, the SEA Directive is part of the EU acquis, and as such any plans and programmes "which are likely to have significant environmental effects" are required to have an SEA. And there can be no doubt that shale gas exploration is likely to have significant environmental impacts.

The SEA Directive also states that member states should conduct an SEA if any of the following criteria are met:

the relevance of the plan or programme for the implementation of Community legislation on the

environment (e.g. plans and programmes linked to waste- the Environment will publish guidelines on environmental management or water protection);

cumulative nature of the effects;

risks to human health or the environment (e.g. due to accidents):

magnitude and spatial extent of the effects (geographical area and size of the population likely to be affected)

Given these criteria and the "invasive" nature of fracking, any member state planning to offer fracking licences should implement an SEA before allowing exploration to proceed. 2.4.2. Failure to implement the directive

Despite clear requirements that SEAs should be carried out before exploration proceeds, most member states seem to have adopted a 'wait-and-see' policy regarding the environmental impacts of fracking, violating EU law.

United Kinadom:

The UK Department of Energy & Climate Change (DECC) is responsible for granting licences in "rounds" to "explore for and get petroleum" under the Petroleum Act 1998. However it failed to undertake an SEA of the 13th licensing round in relation to shale gas at all. The licences granted under the round include Cuadrilla's licence in Lancashire (PEDL 165), and its licence for the Balcombe site in West Sussex. No strategic level assessment of the impacts of the first round of onshore unconventional oil and gas exploration or production in the UK has therefore been undertaken, in breach both of Directive (2001/42) and the concluded that no further action was needed.¹⁶² Recommendation (3.1.).

Two of the mining authorities responsible for issuing licenses Poland: (the Landesamt für Bergbau, Energie und Geologie, In Poland, the first shale gas exploration licences were Lower Saxony and the Bezirksregierung Arnsberg, issued in 2007.¹⁵¹ In 2009, Poland issued a further 113 Abteilung Bergbau und Energie, North-Rhine Westphalia) licences, but no SEA was carried out. Poland argues have announced they have not conducted SEAs before that these licenses cannot be considered to be "plans licenses are granted for exploration and/or production.¹⁶³ These decisions were motivated by the specific licensing and programmes [...] which are likely to have significant environmental effects". Rather, they are "an administrative process operating in Germany, which requires different decision". 152 permits for each operator,¹⁶⁴ and appear to disregard the Recommendation. The mining authorities argued that In 2012, the Polish environment agency was asked an SEA was not needed as only "general exploration to assess "hazards to the environment" resulting from permits" (Aufsuchungserlaubnis)¹⁶⁵ had been granted fracking. The results were published in April 2015 (see box and not the permits needed to build drilling sites and run below). Eight years after the first licences were awarded, drilling operations (Betriebsplanzulassung). However, the communities in Poland's shale plays are still waiting for an responsible planning authorities at the federal level do not SEA to be implemented. also see the need to conduct SEA systematically. ¹⁶

Poland has told the Commission that regulation of the shale This legal interpretation raises three important points: gas industry will happen later in 2015, when "the Ministry of

monitoring, environmental impact reports and environmental impact assessments" ¹⁵³. The government argues that no SEA is required, as "there are still no applicable production licenses in Poland related to the activity referred to in the Recommendation". No SEA will be conducted in Poland therefore until commercial shale gas production is about to start, in what appears to be a clear breach of EU laws.

So far in Poland, licences have been handed out to for exploration in nature protection zones, fertile agricultural land, and tourist areas, without any conditions or restrictions. The Polish government has disregarded the impacts of these exploration activities on the wider area. The "Zwierzyniec" permit given to Chevron covers an area of Natura 2000 sites, ¹⁵⁴ and the Roztocze National Park, which is an Unesco 'biosphere reserve'. 155

Germany:

At the current time, there is no further clarification with regard to the requirement for a mandatory SEA in German legislation, or in the proposed "fracking legal framework" A planning approval procedure shall be established for all unconventional fossil fuel projects, but nothing guarantees that the cumulative impacts across an area will be fully analysed.

The German Government reported to the Commission that the need for an SEA has been already implemented into German law.¹⁶¹ The German Government has therefore

This appears to ignore the spirit of the SEA

Directive. Granting general exploration permits, even if drilling operations have not yet been officially accepted, involves the possibility that larger-scale development may follow. This decision should require a full assessment of the possible cumulative impacts, and include consultation with the local population as included in an SEA. Such an assessment must be conducted before the beginning of the project and allowing operators conduct preliminary research without an SEA could be in breach of obligations under the SEA Directive.

• The German authorities appear to have chosen to ignore the Commission's Recommendation which asks member states to prepare SEAs "before granting licences for exploration and/or production of hydrocarbons which may lead to the use of HVHF". The Recommendation doesn't make any distinction for specific permits of any type.



Exploration pit in Wise County, Texas - Credits Earthworks

Denmark:

Denmark told the European Commission that no SEA was carried out before granting two licenses to Total for exploration and/or production of shale gas. However, the Danish authorities claimed that the public concerned did have "early and effective opportunities to participate in the strategic environmental assessment and the environmental impact assessment processes".¹⁶⁷

The Danish response is clearly contradictory – how can people have participated if no SEA was done. In fact neither "fracking" nor "shale gas" were mentioned in the 2010 resolution which granted one of the permits. It appears that the climate minister at the time, Lykke Friis, chose to omit these two terms from her briefing about the license,¹⁶⁸ leaving MPs under the impression that they were granting a permit for less controversial conventional fossil fuel extraction.¹⁶⁹

The public and local authorities have been presented with a fait accompli, leading to a complaint to the European Commission in June 2015 from the municipality of Hjørringclose to one of the two areas where Total has received the authorisation to search for shale gas.¹⁷⁰ The complaint states that the municipality was not involved, consulted or even contacted during the authorisation process, despite its legal responsibility for local and municipal planning, approval of environmental impact assessments and other permits for water recovery, discharge, well monitoring, and the discharge of wastewater to treatment plants. The complaint also raises the unavoidable visual impacts on the landscape from the developments, and warns that the consequences for the tourism sector have not been evaluated.

Spain:

Spain also openly rejected the European Commission's recommendation to implement an SEA, arguing that since "all the territory unawarded and not pending an award is available for being requested, [...] applications for exploration licenses/concessions (permisos de investigación) are not considered plans or programs in the sense of the Directive 2001/42/EC." ¹⁷¹

If an area was offered by "the Council of Ministers, or, where applicable, the Autonomous Regional Governments" such licences could "be considered plans or programs in the sense of the Directive 2001/42/EC and subsequently subject to strategic environmental assessment". This has not been the case so far.

The argument that exploration permits cannot be considered as plans, especially given the scale of development in the exploitation phase, ignores the specific requirement to complete an SEA at the exploration stage. An SEA "before granting licences for exploration and/or production of hydrocarbons" is needed as part of a broader analysis that takes into consideration the implication of large-scale expansion following exploration. The Spanish interpretation is therefore not acceptable.

Romania:

Romania's response to the Commission admits that: "For existing oil agreement/license issued until now has not applied the provisions of Directive 2001/42/EC. But, on the future [sic], as follow of Recommendation 2014/70/UE requirement, the competent authority for management of national resources is oblige [sic] to take into consideration the previsions of Directive 2001/42/EC in order to granting of oil agreement/license, according to the national procedure [sic]". ¹⁷²

Romania's position appears to be that no SEA is required for shale gas exploration, as long as there is no fracking, and only "usual drilling". However, while Romania argues that there are currently no high-volume hydraulic fracturing activities/wells in the country, several licences for shale gas exploration have already been granted, which inevitably involve the use of some forms of fracking in the process.

Lithuania:

Lithuania has started an SEA to analyse the impacts of shale gas activities. However, local anti-fracking groups found that the SEA, conducted before the tender for shale gas licences was launched, was in fact based on conventional hydrocarbons exploration. Unconventional oil and gas were mentioned, but the specificities of fracking (water issues, cumulative impacts, traffic, etc) were not addressed.¹⁷³

In early 2013, Chevron won the tender for shale gas exploration, but withdrew its support due to "[s]ignificant changes to the fiscal, legislative and regulatory climate".¹⁷⁴ If Chevron had gone ahead with exploration activities, the local groups concerned about the environmental impacts of fracking, were ready to challenge this 'conventional' SEA in the local courts.

2.5. "Ensure that an environmental impact assessment is carried out"

The Recommendation advises that "Member States should take the necessary measures to ensure that an environmental impact assessment [EIA] is carried out on the basis of the requirements of Directive 2011/92/EU". Such assessments, in the form of planning approval proceedings, are crucial as they determine whether a particular development project



An SEA "before granting licences for exploration and/or production of hydrocarbons" is needed as part of a broader obvious, it has been subject to multiple interpretations.

2.5.1. Shortcomings in the existing legislation

The Commission's Recommendation points out that "the Union's environmental legislation was developed at a time when high-volume hydraulic fracturing was not used in Europe. Therefore, certain environmental aspects associated with the exploration and production of hydrocarbons involving this practice are not comprehensively addressed in current Union legislation".

The EIA Directive,¹⁷⁵ for example, does not consider the factors that make unconventional fossil fuel extraction so specific, including the rapid decline in production of each well, the limited amount of gas produced per well compared to conventional production, the high number of wells needed, and its cumulative impacts from the exploration phase onwards.¹⁷⁶

Gas extraction projects are included in the list of activities subjected to a mandatory EIA, but this only applies to projects that produce at least 500,000m³ of gas per day.¹⁷⁷ This fixed threshold excludes many unconventional fossil fuel projects, where initial production rates are often lower and decline rapidly.¹⁷⁸

The European Parliament made a clear call "for the inclusion of projects including hydraulic fracturing in Annex I of the Environmental Impact Assessment Directive"¹⁷⁹



ConocoPhillips flaring - credits Earthworks

(which lists the activities requiring a mandatory EIA), but this was rejected by the European Commission and the European Council when the EIA Directive was reviewed in 2013 and 2014.¹⁸⁰ Leaked information showed that an amendment put forward by the Parliament was blocked in trialogue by the actions of the UK, Poland, Hungary, the Czech Republic, Slovenia, Romania and Bulgaria. The European Commission chose to remain silent.¹⁸¹

The decision to conduct an EIA for fracking projects therefore depends entirely on whether or not national authorities choose to take the specific nature of fracking into consideration and whether they then balance the interests of the operator (backed by industry lobbying) and public or private interests which might be affected by the development project.

2.5.2. Poor implementation and direct violations

The European Court of Justice (ECJ) recently ruled on a case where Austrian authorities had allowed a gas company to explore for unconventional gas without evaluating the possible environmental impacts.¹⁸² The ECJ found that exploration should be part of this evaluation and that cumulative impacts (assessed by considering similar activities in the area) should be considered. This case shows that it is not enough for member states to apply "*the requirements of Directive 2011/92/EU*" because of the gaps in the text.

This lack of legal certainty in the Recommendation is being interpreted in different ways by member states, ranging from mandatory requirements for an EIA, to mandatory beyond some thresholds, not mandatory but considered best practice, to not being required at all.

Poland:

The Polish government amended its national legislation in 2013 to allow unconventional fossil fuel extraction at depths of up to 5,000 meters without a prior environmental impact assessment.¹⁸³ As none of the wells which have been fracked so far have been below 5,000 meters, none of the exploratory drilling so far has had to comply with an EIA.¹⁸⁴

This violates the spirit of the EU legislation, particularly given that there is no scientific evidence to suggest that

fracking more than 5,000 meters below the surface would pose any more or less of a risk of water contamination for aquifers. Poor well integrity can lead to a situation where the borehole provides a conduit between the fractured shale and aquifers, no matter the depth of the operation. Similarly, contamination may occur when there are faults or natural fractures in the cap rock that separates the zone of fracture from the groundwater. Poland is ignoring the Recommendation (5) to implement "a characterisation and risk assessment of the potential site and surrounding surface and underground area" in order to properly assess "the risk of leakage or migration of drilling fluids, hydraulic fracturing fluids, naturally occurring material, hydrocarbons and gases from the well or target formation as well as of induced seismicity".

Since the new Geology and Mining Law entered into force on January 1, 2015, the licence holder only needs to submit a "project of geological works", which focuses on the geology, the plans and the techniques to be used. The only exception, where the licence holder needs to report more broadly on the environmental impacts of fracking, is when drilling activities are likely to have an impact on Natura 2000 sites (§ 1. 1., aléa 5c).

Even if an EIA was required for shale gas operations in Poland, there are concerns that the process would lead to a poor quality EIA. The EIA procedure must be finalised within a record time of 60 days, with the local authority or Regional Directorate for Environmental Protection required to pay the central government a fine for every day that the decision is delayed. If an EIA cannot be delivered within the deadline, shale gas operators can assume that consent has been given.

Environmental impacts from shale gas activities only need to be taken into account within 500 meters of the well pad. Any infrastructure associated with oil and gas production, such as pipelines, compressor stations and other installations, is exempt from spatial planning requirements.

The European Commission has already warned the Polish government that it is failing to properly implement the EIA Directive, and is now threatening to take action in the European Court of Justice to force it to enforce the legislation.¹⁸⁵



Proximity between homes and fracking projects in Wilson County, Eagle Ford shale basin - credits Earthworks

United Kingdom:

The UK has told the European Commission that it is complying with the EIA Directive, but this statement is questionable, particularly as developers are allowed to make their own assessments as to whether an EIA is required.

Although the industry has committed to carrying out EIAs voluntarily for fracking sites in the UK, they have not agreed to carry out an EIA for other activities which fall short of fracking but still create environmental risks and are part of shale gas projects eg: drilling, drill and core, testing (including Diagnostic Fracture Injection Test or DFIT and "mini fall off tests" - which raise pressure but not to the same extent as for fracking),¹⁸⁶ flaring, accumulation and disposal of hazardous waste, decommissioning and abandonment of wells.

The UK industry has also been by-passing its duty to carry out EIAs by changing the way the directive is

transposed nationally. Under Annex II of the Directive, member states can operate their discretion as to whether to subject applications for 'deep drilling' to assessment. UK implementing regulations¹⁸⁷ impose a threshold of one hectare above which screening is required (provided the development is likely to have significant environmental effects). Yet several of the early sites proposed by Cuadrilla in Lancashire (for example at Singleton and Becconsall) were sized at 0.99 hectares, bringing them under this threshold.

In terms of a baseline assessment, some issues are addressed through the EIA. However, the recently reviewed Infrastructure Act only requires monitoring of methane in groundwater (before operations begin) and the monitoring of methane emissions to air. Monitoring of other pollutants which may be used or arise in connection with fracking (such as arsenic and lead¹⁸⁶), as well as other pollutants which may be emitted to air such volatile organic compounds is not required. The UK has also introduced Environmental Risk Assessments (or ERAs) for use in the early stages of operational planning. The value of these is disputable. They do not appear to be as in depth as EIAs and cannot be seen as a substitute or equivalent. There is no binding requirement to carry out an ERA. According to the UK response, full EIAs are required 'where applicable', which seems rather vague. It seems this is most likely mean for the short period when fracking actually takes place. This would mean all other steps in the process can be carried out without an EIA, and significant environmental risks can be ignored.

Spain:

The Spanish authorities have repeatedly stated that "according to Law 21/2013, annexe I, environmental impact assessment is compulsory in exploration or exploitation wells using hydraulic fracturing".¹⁸⁹

However, despite the guarantees given by Spanish authorities, no EIA has been officially finalised for any fracking project so far. Two are currently being conducted around Burgos, in Northern Spain and final conclusions are expected by the end of 2015. As such, the nature of the Spanish process remains unknown, even though it is presented by the authorities as a magic tool to address every concern associated with the fracking industry.

Spain is apparently the first member state to include a reference to fracking in its legislation.¹⁹⁰ The Spanish government reviewed its EIA legislation in 2013 to ensure that fracking projects would systematically require an EIA before operations could start.¹⁹¹ However, this review seems more akin to a greenwashing measure than a real attempt to regulate this industry. While the word fracking is now included in the list of projects subject to a mandatory EIA, no definition is provided in the Spanish legislation and no reference is made to the specific and cumulative impacts associated with this industry.¹⁹²

While Spain appears to be strictly complying with the Recommendation, the evidence suggests that the Spanish authorities have been quick to facilitate shale gas development, approving new projects, rather than ensuring that the letter of the legislation was enacted on the ground. Experiences of EIAs in Spain raise important questions about the efficiency of the process. The Castor project (a large underground gas storage plant off the coast of

Valencia), for example, had to be halted after it triggered 220 mini earthquakes in 2013.¹⁹³ The EIA had not sufficiently considered the seismic risks associated with gas injection, suggesting that the EIA process may have been inadequate.¹⁹⁴

A review of other projects generating environmental risks in Spain shows that this is not an isolated event, but an example of a widespread trend (eg. earthquakes in Lorca, flooding incidents around nuclear power plants, draining and forest fires in the Tablas de Daimiel, etc).¹⁹⁵ One of the main reasons for these failings is that the authorities responsible for EIAs are put under considerable economic and political pressure. The Spanish legislation also doesn't require the distinct impacts (on health, on safety or on the environment) to be assessed. A review of the legislation in 2013 exacerbated this situation by weakening the consultation process (operators no longer must consult on the content and scope of EIAs, and can ignore recommendations from the civil society and/or scientists) under the pretext of saving time.¹⁹⁶

As a result the EIAs currently underway for the BNK Petroleum fracking projects have raised concerns as many risks are being ignored or not fully considered. These include: weak geological and seismic studies, no reference to possible impacts on a nearby nuclear plant and commercial explosives factory, an incomplete and inaccurate hydro-geological study, poor definition of the fracking chemicals, of their toxicity and their possible impacts on human health, etc.¹⁹⁷ Yet the Spanish authorities rely on the EIA to justify the absence of others measures put forward in the Recommendation. Their response to the Commission indicates that all concerns about possible impacts or restricted areas are dealt with by the EIA. There are no regulations on restricted areas, on minimum distances, on depth limitations, on public consultation, on risk assessments, on best available techniques, on information disclosure, etc.,, because, the response states: "they depend on the specific environmental impact assessment of each project."

The Spanish authorities do acknowledge that measures are only "partially" in place for issues such as efficient water use, transport plans, gas capture, flaring & venting or well integrity. However, "partially" is effectively "not at all" if EIAs appear to be just a formality for oil and gas operators who are allowed to determine risks and safety measures. This case-by-case approach, based on confidence in industry good practice ("*principles, technical procedures and standards recognized in the oil industry and regulations*") does not provide any legal certainty to the standards or level of environmental protection. It is also questionable as to whether such an approach can be considered to comply with the Recommendation.

2.6. Public consultation: a 'tick-the-box' exercise

Clearer rules and greater transparency may go some way to addressing local populations' concerns about the risks of fracking. The proposal in the Commission's Recommendation (3.4) to "provide the public concerned with early and effective opportunities to participate" in developing an SEA or in carrying out an EIA may be another way.

Most Member States said that local communities do have: "early and effective opportunities to participate in the strategic environmental assessment and the environmental impact assessment processes".

The SEA Directive (article 3.1) requires an SEA to not only assess "the likely significant effects on the environment of implementing the plan or programme", but also to consider "reasonable alternatives taking into account the objectives and the geographical scope of the plan or programme".



Anti-fracking protester in front of the Berlaymont building, Brussels - Credits Friends of the Earth Europe



However, practice suggests this process is skewed so as to ensure the pre-existing objective is achieved, enabling shale gas exploration to move ahead. Alternatives are not put forward for consultation.

The final report from the industry-funded Task Force on Shale Gas argues:

When the public enters into a consultation process they want to believe that they are being given a chance to influence a final decision. Often it appears they are being asked to give a reason why 'not' to go ahead with a decision that has already been made, or that they are being given a chance to record objections, but without any collective or individual power to influence the outcome in reality.¹⁹⁸

United Kingdom:

In the UK, inadequate time has been provided for public participation in the EIA process in relation to fracking applications (contrary to Article 6 of the EIA Directive). Lancashire County Council initially proposed a three-week consultation on 9,000 pages of environmental statements submitted by Cuadrilla in respect of its applications to frack at Roseacre and Preston New Road in Lancashire.¹⁹⁹ (This was extended following a legal intervention by Friends of the Earth). West Sussex County Council appears not to have consulted on Cuadrilla's application to drill and test for shale oil at Balcombe.²⁰⁰

Some authorities in the UK appear to be attempting to undermine public participation in environmental regulation, in particular as regards permits granted under the Mining Waste Directive (2006/21). The Environment Agency has introduced 'standard rules permits' for certain aspects of unconventional gas and oil exploration (such as managing and disposing of waste) for England and recently consulted on a second set of rules concerning various kinds of testing for shale gas, managing waste and decommissioning wells.²⁰¹ It is clear that there will be no consultation on standard permits at site level, save in cases of "high public interest".

This means local people will have little or no opportunity to respond to proposals to undertake risky activities which impact on them. The Mining Waste Directive (article 8) lays down clear duties to ensure public participation in permitting and it is unclear how the proposals comply with these duties. The Environment Agency has also proposed standard permits for the handling and storage of oil, which may potentially breach Article 24 of the Industrial Emissions Directive (2010/75).

There was also no consultation on the adoption of minerals planning guidance in 2014,²⁰² despite the critical role of the planning authority in ensuring compliance with the EIA Directive and taking account of environmental and other impacts when deciding whether to give planning permission for fracking.

The UK government took further measures in August 2015 aimed at fast-tracking shale gas development. Ministers are now authorised to override local authorities' responsibilities whenever their decisions on shale drilling applications are found to be "*slow and confused*".²⁰³ Councils currently have 16 weeks to decide on such applications, and this rule will remain in place. But if they delay rulings or repeatedly knock back drilling applications that ministers deem "reasonable", the government can step in to overrule them. This is likely to have a knock-on effect on the period for local communities to be appropriately consulted, heard and considered.

Poland:

Poland responded that it ensured meaningful public participation in public consultations on fracking, without offering any details. However, local groups report that the government has made sure that civil society participation will be de facto eliminated or at least made very difficult, in particular for environmental groups.

Following a recent change in the way Poland implements the EIA directive, environmental groups have to prove a 'legal interest' in order to allow for its participation. This will be evaluated by the administrative body in charge of the procedure. The local court is required to make decisions within a 60 days period, or face a fine. If no decision is made within 60 days, it is assumed that the administrative body gave implicit consent for the project. In a case where an environmental group's objections are rejected, it can appeal to a local appeal court. But the appeal does not stop the project from moving forward.

Romania:

Romania also claims that EIA procedures ensure information is publicly available, including through public debates, which enabled the public to effectively participate *"through comments, proposals, observations"*. Such claims stand in sharp contrast to the experiences of the local population whose protests have met with police violence in some cases.²⁰⁴

2.7. Ill-defined restricted areas

The Recommendation suggests that member states "provide clear rules on possible restrictions of activities, for example in protected, flood-prone or seismic-prone areas". However, very little appears to have been done at member state level, and what little has been done raises doubts about the level of protection provided.

United Kingdom:

In their response to the Commission, the UK authorities say that "relevant national planning policies and guidance set out strong planning protections for environmentally sensitive areas such as National Parks, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, World Heritage Sites, Sites of Special Scientific Interest and European Sites". However, this assertion is not backed up by the UK National Planning Policy Framework which recommends that local planning authorities "give great weight to the benefits of the mineral extraction, including to the economy".²⁰⁵

In February 2015, a review of the Infrastructure Bill provided an opportunity for fracking opponents to include

an amendment ruling out fracking for shale gas in national parks, areas of outstanding natural beauty, sites of special scientific interest or in groundwater source protection zones. The UK government however later clarified that these restrictions would be unnecessary as they would "needlessly damage the potential development of the shale industry".²⁰⁶ Oil and gas companies will be therefore allowed to drill horizontally under national parks and other protected areas if the wells start just outside their boundaries.²⁰⁷

UK authorities have also guaranteed that "*the environmental regulator will not allow exploration or production of oil and gas within a drinking water protection zone*". However, there is already evidence to suggest this is not the case: Rathlin Energy has been given permission to drill at Crawberry Hill in East Yorkshire in a drinking water Source Protection Zone 2 (normally protected under the Water Framework Directive).²⁰⁸

The UK authorities' response states that impacts from high volume hydraulic fracturing on groundwater will be "assessed on a case-by-case basis". However, this vague framework based on unsystematic action, vague criteria ("unacceptable effect", "unacceptable adverse impacts", etc) and case-by-case assessments raises questions about the level of protection provided for protected areas, particularly if "great weight to the benefits of the mineral extraction, including to the economy" are to be given.

Germany:

In Germany, the proposed legal framework on fracking would ban fracking and fracking waste disposal in or under some designated water protection areas, areas with water bodies linking to natural lakes or dams which serve for public water supply and areas with wells for the production of beverages/drinks, or which fall under the water security law.

However, the details of the proposal reveal a number of cracks. Just as in the UK, nature protection zones and national parks appear to be protected. However this protection only applies to the construction of facilities related to fracking projects. It does not prohibit drilling projects from being authorised just outside the protected areas, allowing operators to drill horizontally under them.

The proposal also includes a ban on fracking within Natura-2000 areas, but this only covers the construction of facilities related to shale gas and coal bed methane projects. In other words, other kinds of tight gas/oil development involving the use of fracking would be allowed.



These proposals, which have not yet been finally approved, have been put forward by the German government despite the Federal Council of the German States (Bundesrat) voting on 8 May 2015 for a comprehensive ban on fracking and disposal of waste water "in and under" nature protection areas, national parks and Natura-2000-sites, regardless of the targeted geological formation. ^{209 210}

The German proposal does not indicate any restrictions in flood-prone, seismic-prone or other sensitive areas (settlement, agriculture, forestry, world heritage sites, and leisure/tourism areas).

Spain:

While no authorisation has been granted for the exploration or exploitation of non conventional hydrocarbons projects so far, Spanish authorities acknowledged in their response to the Commission that there were "some hydrocarbon exploration licenses/concessions (permisos de investigación) that could imply the use of hydraulic fracturing, following the authorisation of the projects". ²¹¹

The areas covered by these exploration permits do not seem to consider protection for restricted areas with many of the exploration areas overlapping with Natura 2000 areas and zones with strategic groundwater reserves.²¹²

2.8. Fracking chemicals: unknown

Given the ECHA's slow action to adapt the REACH regulation to meet the requirements of fracking at the EU level, the Recommendation suggests member states should be responsible for the chemicals used during fracking operations. However, evidence on the ground suggests that EU member states have not succeeded in forcing operators to disclose details of the chemicals they intend to use on a well-by-well basis.

2.8.1. EIA disclosure

Some member states, including Spain and Germany, claim that the fracking chemicals will be disclosed during a mandatory EIA.

Spain:

There is currently no evidence that chemicals are being disclosed at the EIA stage in Spain, even though 50 to 60 licences for hydrocarbon exploration have already been given. Given that operators always claim that the chemicals used for fracking vary depending on the geology of the site, it seems unlikely that operators will be able to give details of the chemicals they will be using and the quantities at the EIA stage.

Germany:

In Germany, the EIA will require the disclosure of data on the identity, quantity and percentage share of all substances being used, re-used or disposed of. The Bundesrat had demanded that the Federal Environment Agency establish a publicly accessible comprehensive and mandatory register for chemicals, but this demand was refused.²¹³ Moreover, the ministry for economy of Lower Saxony recently stated that no check on the mandatory REACH registration of the used chemicals had been done during the approval procedure. ²¹⁴

2.8.2. No information

United Kingdom:

The UK's response to the Commission's survey, states that chemicals will be permitted if "the environmental regulator considers them acceptable for use". The criteria used to determine acceptability is not specified, but the UK government added: "[t]he environmental regulator has the power to restrict or prohibit the use of any substances where they would pose an environmental risk" and "has the power to demand disclosure of the composition of fracking fluids, including disclosure of the chemicals operators propose to use and maximum concentrations of each".

This suggests that while the regulator has the power to act, there is no legally binding requirement for it to do so. This leaves scope for interpretation / discretion. What happens for instance if the UK Environment Agency decides not to exercise this power? In the absence of binding legislation. it would not be possible to use the courts to compel them to do so.

The UK response also states that "operators will not be allowed to use chemicals in high volume hydraulic fracturing unless the environmental regulator considers them acceptable for use. Conditions within the environmental permit can be used to minimise the use of chemicals". It is unclear whether, for example, petroleum distillates like kerosene (CAS #64742-47-8) would be deemed 'acceptable'. These have been used in Poland as a friction reducer ²¹⁵ and are also widely used for fracking in the US, but are widely recognised as toxic chemical and the UK Health Protection Agency recommends that they are not to "release into the environment". 216

This discretion to act is repeated at several points in the UK's response but risks environmental harm and arguably does not meet the standards set out in the Recommendation or the principles set out in EU law.



H2S Warning Signs - Credits Linda Krop, Environmental Defense Center, provided by The FracTracker Alliance

Poland:

The Polish reply states that three Polish laws ensure that the chemicals in the fracking fluids cannot be considered to be commercially confidential. Operators, represented by the Polish Exploration and Production Industry Organisation (OPPPW), are required to disclose the chemicals they use for fracking online.²¹⁷ Operators are required to disclose "a technical design of special operations contains the composition of the applied fluid and the terms of its use that ensure environmental safety and lack of a negative impact on the environment; no later than 7 days before the launch of hydraulic fracturing".

However, a number of the fracking chemicals disclosed by OPPPW (e.g. for Wisent Oil & Gas's Babiak-1H well, and eni polska's Stare Miasto-1k well) are labelled as "proprietary" and full details, such as the Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS) numbers, are not given. Poland appears not to be following the Recommendation (15.1), which explicitly demands that full details, including the CAS numbers and safety data sheets, are provided.

2.9. Poor assessment of seismic risks

One of the key risks associated with fracking has been an increase in seismic activity. Yet this risk appears to be down-played by member states in their responses to the Commission.

United Kingdom:

In the UK, seismic activity directly linked to fracking led to a two-vear moratorium on fracking, vet the UK authorities' response states that "natural seismicity in the UK is low of particular seismic sensitivity have been identified for not relevant in the UK context".

Although "natural seismicity' may be limited, the risk of induced seismicity due to fracking is real. In the first half of 2011, there were two earthquakes linked to Cuadrilla's operations at Preese Hall in Lancashire. ²¹⁸ While relatively small (one measured up to 2.3 on the Richter scale), they were enough to lead to deformation of the well casings.²¹⁹ This led to a build-up in pressure between the well casings, indicating that the well was leaking and might have failed.²²⁰ Such problems can cause gas or fracking fluids – water and sector). 223 chemicals - to leak outside the wellbore. 221

same rock strata - the Bowland basin - in Lancashire. The Bowland shale play is one of the biggest (if not the biggest) potential shale resource in the UK. The UK government has put in place "new control protocols requiring prior analysis of seismic risk, systematic monitoring and a "traffic light" system to halt operations at predefined levels of activity". Yet, despite this, the UK still believes that no area should be considered as a seismic-prone area. This approach would appear to go against the precautionary principle and clearly exposes the local population to a risk of serious damage.

Poland:

The Polish government similarly states that "The current scientific knowledge on the seismic activity of Poland allows us to determine that exploration works in relation to shale gas deposits are carried out in areas where the risk of earthquakes is negligible".

A2011 study by the Polish Geological Institute of a single well in the Baltic basin in north-west Poland found that guakes felt by people were extremely rare in areas of exploitation

of shale gas resources, and that a direct connection with fracking could not be confirmed unequivocally. ²²² It seems however difficult to generalise the conclusion of an analysis done at a single well. That is why it should be mentioned that the report admits that seismicity depends on local geological conditions.

The General Directorate for Environmental Protection of Poland found seismic activity at level 2 on the Richter scale recorded near the Syczyn well pad in eastern Poland, compared to many other areas of the world and no zones operated by Orlen UpStream. Given the very small sample size and the selective presentation of the results, the regulatory purposes. As such, this part of the question is general conclusion of the Polish government on this issue appears premature.

> More importantly, the Polish and UK governments take a very limited view in addressing the link between seismic activity and fracking. They only consider the short period when water, sand and chemicals are injected in the shale formation at high pressure, and do not look at the key issue of what will happen when wastewater from fracking operations is re-injected in deep well injection sites (standard practice in both the conventional and unconventional oil and gas

In the US, the pumping of large amounts of fluids Cuadrilla has received further licences to drill and frack in the underground by the oil and gas industry is largely considered as being to blame for the significantly increased frequency of earthquakes in the US. Fracking operations or wastewater injections can lead to induced seismicity. A series of recent peer-reviewed studies documents how the previously seismically inactive State of Oklahoma has become the most earthquake-prone State in US. These studies show a link between wastewater reinjection activities and the explosion of earth tremors. ²²⁴ Earthquake activity in the US has increased about fivefold from an annual average of 21 earthquakes above a 3.0 magnitude between 1967 and 2000, to more than 300 earthquakes over three years from 2010 to 2012. 225

2.10. Limited measures to avoid venting and flaring

2.10.1. Venting

Methane venting and leakage are serious issues (see section 1.4) which have the potential to turn largescale shale gas development into a climate time bomb, particularly in the absence of measures to limit the amount of fugitive methane.

methane emissions from oil and gas facilities (through a process known as "green completions" ²²⁶), a key part of a broader strategy to cut methane emissions in the sector by 40 to 45 percent below 2012 levels. 227

In contrast, the EU's Recommendation only includes a nonbinding request to "put in place measures to ensure that air emissions at the exploration and production stage are mitigated by capturing gas and its subsequent use" and limiting the practice of venting "to the most exceptional operational circumstances for safety reasons".

Within the EU, no industry best practice on limiting fugitive methane has been agreed or is known to be in development. Evidence from the national levels also suggests that no steps are being developed.

Poland reports that "at the current stage emissions induced by the activity of operators are minor and are usually dispersed, which makes their monitoring difficult". This raises a question as to how Poland will monitor thousands of shale gas wells in full production if it cannot measure emissions at this stage?

The UK government admits that "[g]reen completions have been shown to be very effective at reducing greenhouse gas emissions from shale gas operations in the United States", but has not made this practice mandatory in the UK. Instead, it only goes as far as to say it expects "green completion technology to develop and become even more effective as the industry develops". If there are federal environmental standards on reduced completions for the thousands of well being drilled in the US, why is the UK government still reluctant to make this mandatory?

The proposed German legal framework on fracking also does not require measures to capture gases, minimise flaring or avoid venting. The operator is required to use "state of art measuring techniques" in order to record data about methane emissions. Furthermore, the German Government refers to existing legislation and the responsibility of federal authorities to regulate methane emissions. 228

2.10.2. Flaring

One of the iconic images of fracking is the picture from space, depicting North Dakota's Bakken play at night.²²⁹

In the US, new rules are currently being introduced to cut Shale oil operators there are allowed to flare up to 30% of all the natural gas produced, simply because it is not profitable to build the pipelines and compression stations to make use of this gas.



Natural gas flaring in North Dakota's Bakken Shale is visible in this NASA satellite image - Credits NASA

This results in natural gas being wasted based on 'economic evaluation criteria'. In some oil-producing areas like North Dakota and Western Siberia, the distance from consumers makes the building of pipelines or other means of transporting the gas economically unfeasible. In Europe the widespread gas transmission network and the proximity of population centres to potential shale plays make this less of a problem. So the Recommendation (8b) asks member states to require operators to take steps to capture the gas:

"If an installation's primary purpose is producing oil using high-volume hydraulic fracturing, specific infrastructure that captures and transports associated natural gas should be installed".

This could be a generator that uses the associated natural gas to produce electricity or a compressor that can turn the natural gas into a liquid to be used as a fuel or to be transported to a processing facility.

Most member states appear to have ignored this Recommendation. The UK, for example, does not require operators to install the "adequate infrastructure" to



capture all the gas that would be produced from fracking operations. Instead, they are allowed to use 'economic valuation criteria': "Where cost-effective routes for economic use of the gas are available, these must be used. The environmental regulator can regulate flaring through environmental permits".

In practice, this leads to situation where e.g. a shale gas operator such as Cuadrilla can propose 12 months of flaring at each of the fracking sites in Lancashire. If the UK shale plays are 'wet plays' with lots of crude oil and natural gas liquids and if they cannot be easily linked to the UK's gas transmission network, considerable levels of flaring could result. This is therefore not surprising to find UK authorities answering the Commission that "an operator may find gas that is not economic to recover, in which case they will flare iť". ²³⁰

Similarly, Poland's states that "natural gas extracted from boreholes during [...] the production of oil is to be used", but adds that "*[i]f there are no conditions to use the natural gas.* it is admissible to burn it" ... as long as the requirements of the 2001 Environmental Protection Law are met. No details are given regarding the "conditions" that could allow flaring

Flaring in Eagle Ford Shale - Credits Earthworks

or of any limits in terms of volume or time the Environmental Protection Law would impose.

2.11. Lack of accountability

The Recommendation (12.2) advises member states to make sure that "the operator provides a financial guarantee or equivalent covering the permit provisions and potential liabilities for environmental damage prior to the start of operations involving high volume hydraulic fracturing". No guidance is given on the level for this "financial guarantee". but given the lack of clarity as to what should be considered a risk (see section 2.2), this is perhaps inevitable. Member states have dealt with this issue in a range of ways, providing very few or no details on how it will be implemented.

United Kingdom:

The UK's answer states that "[s]hould pollution of groundwater occur, the regulator can take enforcement action to prevent or remedy pollution of groundwater caused by the actions of operators". However, the UK government emphasises that the decision lies with the regulator. There is no legally binding obligation to make sure that operators clean up their act in case of environmental damage.

The UK authorities state that "operators must satisfy the environmental regulator that fractures will remain in the target formation, there is no risk of connectivity with groundwater". This presumes that the applications for the first permits already granted by the national authorities provided guarantees that no groundwater contamination could result of these operations.

Based on the North American experience, where there have been a number of well-documented cases of water contamination,231 it seems unlikely that operators can guarantee that no contamination will take place.

Where groundwater pollution does occur, it can be very difficult and expensive to remedy. It is highly unlikely that the financial guarantee provided in the Mining Waste Directive (as implemented by the UK) would be able to cover the clean-up costs. The UK's reply states that there are discussions with the UK shale gas industry about "the development of a mutual industry scheme that would, where necessary, step in and pay for necessary remedial action in the event that the liable company was unable to do so". Little progress on the scheme seems to have been made.

Poland:

Poland's response states that any shale gas exploration or production licence "may by [sic] granted subject to the provision of a financial guarantee covering possible claims that may arise during the activities envisaged by the license". It is unclear whether this is optional or legally binding. But Poland adds that such a guarantee may only be demanded "if it is justified by overriding reasons of state or public interest related in particular to environmental protection." This suggests that it will be very difficult for local communities and residents to hold shale gas operators accountable.

Germany:

In Germany, the industry fund (Bergschadensausfallkasse) for mining damages provides coverage for up to €7.5 million for members and €1.5 million for non-members.²³² Companies don't have to provide any kind of liability insurance prior to the granting of licenses. Considering the number and seriousness of the various possible impacts associated with fracking operations, such measures do not

seem to be in line with "a financial guarantee or equivalent covering the permit provisions and potential liabilities for environmental damage prior to the start of operations involving high-volume hydraulic fracturing."

2.12. Lack of publicly available information

The fracking industry's lack of transparency and the authorities' laissez-faire approach have contributed to the distrust about fracking. In the US, local communities, suffering from the negative impacts of fracking, have struggled to prove a causal link between shale gas extraction and water or air contamination because the baseline data was not available. Similarly they could not find out what chemicals were being used. Moreover, numerous sealed agreements have helped oil and gas operators keep documented contamination claims silent. 233

The European Commission has urged greater transparency and access to information in the Recommendation (15). In that sense, member states are advised to:

• Ensure that operators "disseminate information on chemical substances and volumes of water" used for each well

Publish "on a publicly-accessible internet site":

• "The number of wells completed and planned projects involving high-volume hydraulic fracturing";

o "The number of permits granted, the names of operators":

- "The baseline study and monitoring results":
- "Incidents and accidents";

 "Results of inspections, non-compliance and sanctions".

This can only have an impact if it is implemented, but several countries appear to be ignoring the Commission's advice. 234

Romania:

Romanian authorities told the Commission that exploration licences for shale gas had been granted, but that "according to national legislation on oil and gas fields, Law no. 238/2004 has issued oil license, but this information are confidential". 235

It is known that Chevron obtained several exploration licences in the Barlad and in the Dobrogea region. However, the details of these licences (contracts, number

Information about fracking activities is published on a number of different websites and there is no single information point. This means it is available in theory, but difficult to find in practice. Moreover, permit documents are not made available online and require access-to-document requests to be consulted. The UK does require operators to disclose: "the chemicals operators propose to use in high volume hydraulic fracturing and the maximum concentration of each, and total daily discharges of fracturing fluid", but civil society groups say they are not aware whether and how the "total daily discharges of fracturing fluid" will be disclosed.

Germany:

of wells, chemicals substances, volumes of water, etc.) have been kept confidential. The only information obtained so far has come from legal actions by NGOs. The three contracts associated with the three licences in the Dobrogea region were partially unclassified during one legal proceeding, allowing the NGOs to see that permits had been given for conventional and unconventional oil and gas activities, even though Romania's response to the Commission states that these licences were "for classical oil and gas exploration". 235

United Kingdom:

In the UK, the Guardian newspaper found that "neither the trade body representing the industry, the United Kingdom Onshore Oil and Gas (UKOOG) nor the Department of Energy and Climate Change, which is responsible for much of the regulation, collects data on how many shale gas projects are currently taking place and where" as part of an investigation into new shale gas wells in early 2015.²³⁶ By interrogating company statements and pushing for more information, notably with the main companies involved, they discovered that 11 new exploratory wells were planned in 2015.

In Germany, the currently discussed legal framework on fracking does not properly address these disclosure requirements. There are no requirements to publicly disclose the elements listed in the Recommendation on a regular basis. As already mentioned above: The Bundesrat had demanded that the Federal Environment Agency establish a publicly accessible comprehensive and mandatory register for chemicals, but this demand was refused. 237

III. COST OF REGULATION "WILL DELAY INVESTMENT"

The oil and gas industry have told member states with potential shale and unconventional hydrocarbon resources how much they would benefit from allowing the industry to develop, with promises of jobs, energy security and cheap energy. Industry frequently warns that any delay to investment as a result of "new EU legislation" will put these benefits at risk.²³⁸ Some member states appear to be prepared to ignore legitimate concerns, backed by scientific evidence, as a result of this pressure from industry, with some states also prepared to put forward the argument that new rules would be a problem due to "*the lengthy timeframes and significant uncertainty involved*".²³⁹

3.1. Industry vs. regulation

According to the Commission, the official objective of the Recommendation was to "*level the playing field for operators and improve investors' confidence*". It was the weakest possible legal response to the need for "*a Union-wide risk management framework for the exploration and extraction of unconventional fossil fuels*", as called for by the European Parliament in November 2012. ²⁴⁰ This was mainly a result of pressure from several member states, advised and backed by the oil and gas industry. ²⁴¹

A comparison with the situation in the United States before the shale gas boom really started is revealing. The pivotal moment which allowed fracking operations to get underway was the passage of the Energy Policy Act in 2005, which, thanks to the efforts of Vice President Dick Cheney, former CEO of Halliburton, exempted the fracking industry from most federal environmental legislation (including the Clean Air Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, and the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act).²⁴² Without the "constraint" of complying with basic federal environmental legislation, industry had a green light to develop according to the most convenient selfdetermined standards.

Investors and operators may be hoping for a similar carte blanche in Europe: whatever measures put forward at the European level, industry will seek to block them. Rather than seeking legislative harmonisation to bring more certainty and greater confidence for investors, as they claim, they want to see the sector unregulated as far as possible. Legal certainty would have been achieved through a legallybinding regulation.

3.2. The "cost" argument

The financial costs of having to comply with more stringent EU rules on fracking is one of the arguments put forward against stronger legislation, with industry suggesting it would undermine the economic viability of shale gas.

While more stringent environmental rules may have an additional cost for operators, estimates by the International Energy Agency (IEA) and by the European Commission show that such fears tend to be overblown:

• The IEA estimated that complying with key environmental risk mitigation measures (a.k.a. the "golden rules") would add some 7% to the overall cost of drilling and completing a shale gas well. ²⁴³

• The European Commission estimated that the Recommendation would add between 0 and 7% "to the absolute costs of the operations" while a binding "directive setting specific requirements covering all issues identified" would only add 8% to the overall costs. ²⁴⁴

It is unlikely that an additional 7 or 8% on the drilling costs would really be a game changer for the nascent European fracking industry, especially when compared to the additional costs of adapting the fracking technology to European geology.

Early exploration efforts have demonstrated that the main obstacle for the commercial viability of shale gas seems to be the difficult geological conditions.

In 2011, Schlumberger, the world's largest oilfield services company, admitted that the costs of drilling in Poland would be three times the cost of drilling an average well in the US.²⁴⁵ This was backed up by a later study ran by KPMG which observed that because of higher population density and because "*known reserves of shale gas in Europe are located 1.5 times deeper on average than similar formations in the US*", the cost of production in Poland would be far higher, with further extra costs for water which can be up to 10 times more expensive in Europe.^{246 247}

The cost of fracking in Poland has been found to be even higher than these initial estimates, with the Pomerania regional council revealing in 2013 that "*each exploratory well costs between \$30 and \$35 million*" ²⁴⁸ (double the amount predicted by KPMG). ConocoPhillips announced in June 2015 that their subsidiary, Lane Energy Poland, had invested around \$220 million in drilling seven exploratory wells in Poland since 2009, equal to €28 million per well. ²⁴⁹

The impact of the geology on the overall production costs seems to play a much greater game-changer effect on the viability of this industry than the costs of complying with legislation. This was illustrated by the decision of a series of operators to stop their operations in Europe. In May 2015, Total announced that it had abandoned its shale gas licence for Nordsjaelland in Denmark, as *"this area does not demonstrate the pre-requisite sub-surface characteristics for viable shale gas production"*.²⁵⁰ Marathon Oil said in 2013 that its six exploratory wells in Poland had been unsuccessful in finding commercial levels of hydrocarbons.²⁵¹ Other companies (Exxon²⁵², Eni²⁵³, Talisman²⁵⁴) have come to similar conclusions.

All of these companies pulled out of Polish shale gas, before the launch of the Commission's Recommendation.

These companies were also operating against the backdrop of political and public support – and so did not have to face the extra costs of overcoming public opposition.

In 2015, it is blatantly obvious that fears about excessive environmental rules as the death knell of European shale gas are greatly exaggerated. Difficult geology, industry



bottlenecks (limited know-how, pipeline infrastructures and drilling rigs) and oil prices (currently too low to allow profitable shale gas development) are far more decisive for the success of exploration efforts from an economic point of view.

Moreover, benefits of environmental rules would have to be counted as well. These can range from less accidents and damage (often paid from tax payers money) to prevention of higher health costs due to pollution of water, exposure to chemicals and accidents.

3.3. Profitability vs. Public health and safety

Arguing against environmental and public safety legislation to allow increased profitability raises fundamental ethical questions. Health and environmental protection should not be weighed against an industry's potential profits. Profitability should be determined on the basis of the necessary legislation. Allowing such concerns to interfere in a system intended to represent the public interest is damaging interference in the democratic process.

The idea of harmonising the regulatory framework across Europe to bring more legal certainty for investors seems sensible. However, oil and gas industry lobbyists appear to have made such a goal look like wishful thinking, or at least a compromise that is to the detriment of health and environmental protection.

CONCLUSIONS

This report clearly outlines the problems with the European Commission's soft-touch approach to the incipient fracking industry in Europe, as evidenced through its non-binding and loosely worded Recommendation on the use of fracking.

The Recommendation lacks the necessary teeth to force EU member states to make even minimal changes to their regulatory approach to shale gas, failing, for example, to even persuade some member states on the need for a Strategic Environmental Impact Assessment to assess the cumulative impacts of shale gas activities. The Recommendation also relies too heavily on the oil and gas industry's definition of best practice and on selfmonitoring to mitigate the worst impacts of fracking.

We believe that self-regulation and self-monitoring is inadequate and does little to establish a social licence to operate for this industry. Major questions remain unanswered about the treatment of fracking waste water, which chemicals are used (and which chemicals are permitted) and the liability for abandoned oil and gas wells.

While the weak wording in the European Commission's Recommendation is to blame for its poor implementation at national level, we see little evidence that member states are using the Recommendation as a basis to build more stringent rules for fracking. In fact member states and their national regulatory frameworks appear to be ill-equipped to deal with the specific challenges of fracking. Insufficient attention is paid to what monitoring capacity will be required to keep track of this complex industry.

EU governments appear to be in denial about the real impacts of potentially allowing largescale fracking in Europe, preferring to adopt a wait-and-see policy during the exploration phase. The government of Poland in particular has gone to great lengths in downplaying the risks involved in fracking.

Local communities, who face the realities of fracking projects, are only offered token forms of public consultation, while information about drilling and fracking proposals is often made unnecessarily complicated. Under these circumstances, we can already expect that many of the mistakes seen in the American fracking boom will be repeated here in the European Union.

More generally, shale gas is and remains in our view unburnable carbon and will only accelerate climate change. Shale gas is inappropriate to facilitate a transition to a zerocarbon society and is more a distraction than a solution in implementing this challenging transition. Focusing the EU's efforts on an energy policy that combines renewables and energy efficiency will be a more effective strategy than promoting the high-carbon fracking industry.

We call for a ban on fracking and an immediate halt to all unconventional fossil fuel projects in the EU.



Anti-fracking protest in front of Total's office, Brussels - credits Food & Water Europe

REFERENCES

- 1. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32014H0070
- 2. http://europa.eu/eu-law/decision-making/treaties/pdf/consolidated_versions_of_the_treaty_on_european_union_2012/consolidated_versions_of_the_
- treaty_on_european_union_2012_en.pdf
- 3. http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/consumers/consumer_safety/l32042_en.htm
- http://ec.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52014SC0021
- http://www.europarl.europa.eu/oeii/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2011/2308(INI) http://www.foeeuropa.eu/oeii/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2011/2309(INI)
 https://www.foeeurope.org/fracking-brussels-240714

- https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32014H0070
 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52014SC0021
- 11. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32014H0070
- 12. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- http://stopgazdeschiste.org/cartes-de-demande-de-permis/
 http://stopgazdeschiste.org/cartes-de-demande-de-permis/
 https://ejatlas.org/conflict/shell-shale-gas-project-skane-sweden
- 15. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/51VDQCAotExJN2P
- 16. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/1PdiEtKOTbTDEfY
- 17. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- 18. http://www.pnas.org/content/early/2014/06/25/1323422111
- 19. http://elj.sagepub.com/content/17/1/8.full.pdf
- http://ei.suggput.com/content/integration/energy/pdf/fracking%20study.pdf
 http://www.marcellusoutreachbutler.org/mob-blog/spill-baby-spill
 http://pennsylvaniaallianceforcleanwaterandair.wordpress.com/the-list/

- http://www.biologicaldiversity.org/campaigns/california_fracking/pdfs/14_6_9_Air_Toxics_One_Year_Report.pdf
 http://www.biolomberg.com/news/2013-06-06/drillers-silence-fracking-claims-with-sealed-settlements.html
- 24. http://ecowatch.com/2013/11/08/industry-mislead-americans-on-fracking/
- 25. http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/hfstudy/recordisplay.cfm?deid=244651
- http://www.usatoday.com/story/money/business/2014/01/05/some-states-confirm-water-pollution-fromdrilling/4328859/ http://triblive.com/news/adminpage/6696428-74/wells-released-gas#axzz3BrwE69eH
- 26. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/energy/pdf/fracking%20study.pdf
- 27. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/energy/pdf/fracking%20study.pdf
- http://ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/energy/pdf/Final%20Report%2024072013.pdf
- 29. http://ec.europa.eu/public opinion/archives/flash arch 360 345 en.htm#360
- 30. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/energy/pdf/Shale%20gas%20consultation_report.pdf
- 31. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/FXO68CPEFp6xa6W and https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/7iByNZ5zIND58BD
- 32. http://www.foe.co.uk/blog/condition-uk-fracking-wells-questioned
- 33. https://www.taskforceonshalegas.uk/report/assessing-the-impact-of-shale-gas-on-the-local-environment-and-health
- 34. http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/earth/energy/fracking/11740144/Fracking-government-has-failed-to-implement-key-safety-recommendation.html
- 35. http://geology.com/articles/frac-sand/
- http://thetyee.ca/News/2013/01/07/Shale-Gas-Realities/
- 37. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/energy/pdf/fracking%20study.pdf (page 8)
- 38. http://www.desmog.uk/2015/02/26/definition-fracking-political-not-scientific
- 39. http://www.ngsfacts.org/findawell/list/
- 40. http://www.usgs.gov/newsroom/article.asp?ID=4262&from=rss_home#.VZZezPmgpBe
- 41. http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/hfstudy/recordisplay.cfm?deid=244651 (page 35)
- 42. http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/378/publikationen/texte 83 2013 environmental impacts of fracking.pdf (Tab. A7, PDF-pages 119 - 120)
- 43. http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/378/publikationen/texte 53 2014 umweltauswirkungen von fracking.pdf (page AP7-36, table 9)
- http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/378/publikationen/texte_83_2013_environmental_ impacts of fracking.pdf (page A88)
- 45. http://www.total.com/en/energies-expertise/oil-gas/exploration-production/strategic-sectors/unconventional-gas/ presentation/three-main-sources-unconventional-gas?%FFbw=kludge1%FF
- http://www.igzone.com/training/insight.asp?insight_id=346&c_id=4
 http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/378/publikationen/texte_53_2014_umweltauswirkungen_ von fracking 28.07.2014 0.pdf
- 48. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/full/10.1021/acs.est.5b01921
- 49. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/energy/pdf/Stakeholders%20event%202015%20agenda.pdf
- 50. Underground Coal Gasification a process for exploiting coal that cannot be mined because the seams are too deep, thin or fractured. The process involves using the same sort of drilling technology usually used for fracking to get air/ oxygen into the coal seam and then set the seam on fire. By controlling the amount of oxygen injected it is then possible to only partially burn the coal and bring the gases produced to the surface where they can be burned to produce energy (Source: http://frack-off.org.uk/extreme-energies/underground-coal-gasification/)

- 51. http://www.lockthegate.org.au/fracking
- 52. http://ntn.org.au/wp/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/NTN-CSG-Report-Sep-2011.pdf http://ntn.org.au/wp/wp-content/upioads/2012/u4/N1N-CSG-report-Sep-2011.pdf
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3621574/http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3621574/ http://www.catskillcitizens.org/learnmore/2013-04-symptomatology_of_a_gas_field_Geralyn_McCarron.pdf
 http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2015/feb/3/drilling-panel-tries-to-find-consensus-on-oil-gas_/
- http://www.abc.net.au/local/stories/2013/02/19/3693678.htm http://keranews.org/post/proposed-buffer-zone-dallas-gas-wells-may-shrink-drilling#.UhbgH48mzVk.twitter http://www.post-gazette.com/powersource/consumers-powersource/2015/01/22/Penn-Township-looks-to-ban-fracking-within-600-foot-buffer-zone/stories/201501220110
- 54. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969712001933
- 55. http://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/1307732/
- 56. http://psehealthyenergy.org/site/view/1233

- See planning applications by Cuadrilla to frack at Roseacre Wood and Preston New Road in Lancashire: http:// planningregister.lancashire.gov.uk/PlanAppDisp.aspx?recno=6591 & http://planningregister.lancashire.gov.uk/ PlanAppDisp.aspx?recno=6586
- 60. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/public.php?service=files&t=59fc9dd661054822efae5a1ef0f1b3f3 61. http://www.shalegas.international/2015/02/27/polish-fracking-law-in-breach-of-eu-directive-european-commission savs/
- 62. http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2013-02-15/poland-plans-to-ease-environmental-rules-hindering-shalesearch
- 63. http://www.bmwi.de/DE/Themen/Industrie/Rohstoffe-und-Ressourcen/fracking.html
- 64. http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/feb/14/germany-legalise-fracking-shale-gas-hydraulic-fracturing
- 65. Which could eventually be dropped: https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/E9nHaBAhZHTBRxg
- 66. Official inquiry of the MP-Office Julia Verlinden and official answer of the Environment Ministry, 08.09.2015, https:// cloud.foeeurope.ora/index.php/s/U7QIAhC2A61v4vI
- http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52014DC0023R(01)
- Wells drilled specifically for the purpose of injecting fracking waste water.
- 69. Wells not drilled for waste disposal purposes, but 'recycled' for that very purpose. http://www.nytimes.com/2013/03/29/us/wastewater-disposal-wells-proliferate-along-with-fracking.html
- http://www.foodandwaterwatch.org/tools-and-resources/the-case-for-a-ban-on-gas-fracking/
 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52014DC0023R(01)
- 73. http://www.bbc.com/news/uk-england-25902272
- 74. http://www.messengernewspapers.co.uk/news/10971603.MP_demands_answers_on_why_waste_water_from_ fracking_was_dumped_into_the_Manchester_Ship_Canal/?ref=rss 75. http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/378/publikationen/texte 53 2014 umweltauswirkungen

von fracking.pdf

- 77. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/energy/pdf/legal assessment.pdf
- 78. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/water-framework/index en.html
- 79. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/energy/pdf/fracking%20study.pdf p. 108-109
- 80. http://www.pnas.org/content/110/13/4962.abstract
- http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es301411g?source=cen http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es402165b http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es403852h
- http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969713009224 http://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?type=TA&reference=P7-TA-2012-0443&language=EN
- 82. http://echa.europa.eu/regulations/reach/legislation
- gas reach.pdf
- http://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/21779840/annex+to+a+news+item+20150318.pdf
- 85. http://www.endseurope.com/index.cfm?go=40089
- 86. http://water.epa.gov/type/groundwater/uic/class2/hydraulicfracturing/wells_hydroreg.cfm
- 87. http://www.thelocal.dk/20150513/denmark-to-allow-total-to-resume-fracking-projec
- 88. http://water.epa.gov/type/groundwater/uic/class2/hydraulicfracturing/wells hydroreg.cfm
- statement-on-shale-gas-shale-oil-coal-bed-methane-and-fracking/
- https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/uh-network/working-groups/emerging-technologies-for-well-stimulation
 http://www.naturalgaseurope.com/content/6366/Tamboran%20May%2011.pdf
- 91. http://www.taz.de/!5032213/
- http://www.erdgassuche-in-deutschland.de/dialog/offener brief ueber fracking reden/

http://psehealthyenergy.org/data/PSE_Cement_Failure_Causes_and_Rate_Analaysis_Jan_2013_Ingraffea1.pdf
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111137932/pdfs/ukdsi_9780111137932_en.pdf

http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/gutachten-2014-umweltauswirkungen-von-fracking-bei
 http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/479/dokumente/pi-2014-33_fracking_jetzt_regulieren.pdf

83. http://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/111111111/29386/1/req jrc83512 assessment use substances hydraulic fracturing shale

REFERENCES

- 92. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0883292712002752, http://www.pnas.org/content/110/13/4962.abstract, http://pubs.acs.org/doi/ abs/10.1021/es301411q?source=cen, http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es4011724?journalCode=esthag, http://biology.duke.edu/jackson/est2013 pdf, http://pubs.acs.org/doi/pdf/10.1021/es501441e, http://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlelanding/2014/em/c4em00376d#ldivAbstract, http://pubs.acs. org/doi/abs/10.1021/es5028184, http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es504654n,
- 93. http://pubs.usgs.gov/of/2013/1137/pdf/ofr2013-1137.pdf
- http://www.downstreamstrategies.com/documents/reports_publication/marcellus_wv_pa.pdf http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es4047654
- 94. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es404050r
- http://www.pnas.org/content/early/2014/06/25/1323422111
- 95. http://www.pnas.org/content/early/2015/05/01/1420279112
- 96. http://rt.com/usa/244021-maryland-legislature-passes-fracking-bills/
- 97. http://www.bi-ffh-harburg.de/?page_id=257
- 98. http://www.lbeg.niedersachsen.de/aktuelles/pressemitteilungen/?cp=1
- http://www.oedp-niedersachsen.de/pdf/Kurzbericht_EKN_Bothel_110914.pdf
- 99. http://www.ndr.de/nachrichten/niedersachsen/hannover_weser-leinegebiet/Erdoel-Leukaemie-Niedersachsen-Rodewald,erdoel212.html
- 100. http://www.dwarshuis.com/earthquakes-groningen-gas-field/history-groningen-gas/#
- 101. http://nos.nl/artikel/2012483-veiligheid-genegeerd-bij-gaswinning.html
- http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/english.pdf
- 102. http://www.bloomberg.com/bw/articles/2014-06-26/climate-change-and-the-two-thirds-imperative
- 103. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/potential-greenhouse-gas-emissions-associated-with-shale-gas-production-and-use
- 104. http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v517/n7533/full/nature14016.html
- 105. http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/jun/24/natural-gas-leaks-methane-environment
- 106. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es506359c
- 107. http://thinkprogress.org/climate/2013/10/02/2708911/fracking-ipcc-methane/
- http://www.carbonbrief.org/blog/2014/04/study-%E2%80%9Cplumes%E2%80%9D-of-methane-released-into-the-atmosphere-by-a-few-super-
- 108. emitting-shale-gas-wells/ and http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/jun/24/natural-gas-leaks-methane-environment 109. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/grl.50811/abstract
- 110. http://www.pnas.org/content/109/17/6435.full
- 111. http://iopscience.iop.org/1748-9326/9/9/094008/pdf/1748-9326_9_9_094008.pdf
- 111. http://iopscience.iop.org/1748-9326/9/11/114022/pdf/1748-9326_9_11_114022.pdf
 112. http://iopscience.iop.org/1748-9326/9/11/114022/pdf/1748-9326_9_11_114022.pdf
 113. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32014H0070
- 114. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/SU6ZTyfS8zYTBeL and https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/rIDyOSII9tvQkH4
- 115. http://www.foeeurope.org/carte-blanche-fracking
- 116. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/c72N3k6SeSDkqDB
- 117. http://concernedhealthny.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/CHPNY-Fracking-Compendium.pdf
- 118. http://psehealthyenergy.org/data/Database_Analysis_2015.1_.27_1.pdf http://www.fraw.org.uk/files/extreme/brufatto_2003.pdf
- Sustained Casing Pressure, or SCP, is a technical phenomenon that can be observed when the cement work surrounding the metal annulus fails, resulting in abnormally pressurized casing strings and leaks of gas into zones that would otherwise not be gas bearing (http://www.psehealthyenergy. 119. org/data/PSE__CementFailureCausesRateAnalaysis_Oct_2012_Ingraffea.pdf)
- http://www2.epa.gov/sites/production/files/documents/ingraffea.pdf
- 120. http://www.depreportingservices.state.pa.us/ReportServer/Pages/ReportViewer.aspx?/Oil_Gas/OG_Compliance
- 121. http://files.dep.state.pa.us/OilGas/BOGM/BOGMPortalFiles/OilGasReports/Determination_Letters/Regional_Determination_Letters.pdf
- 122. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32014H0070 (page 6)
- http://www.ukoog.org.uk/about-ukoog/press-releases/124-potential-for-33bn-investment-and-over-64-000-new-jobs-in-the-uk-from-shale-gas-123. development
- https://www.gov.uk/government/news/getting-ready-for-shale-gas-supply-chain-estimated-to-be-worth-billions-as-new-environmental-measuresannounced
- 124. http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/jan/13/shale-gas-fracking-cameron-all-out
- http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/feb/28/environment-agency-staff-voluntary-redundancy
- 125. http://www.unitetheunion.org/news/environment-agency-chief-pulls-out-of-job-cuts-meeting-says-unite/
- 126. http://www.unison.org.uk/at-work/water-environment-and-transport/key-issues/cuts-at-the-environment-agency/the-facts/
- 127. http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/jul/22/environment-agency-chairman-fracking-links
- http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/jan/16/environment-agency-fracking-row-cuadrilla-resources-green-light-drill-again-blackpool-128. earthquakes
- 129. http://www.theguardian.com/uk/2011/jun/01/blackpool-earthquake-tremors-gas-drilling
- http://www.independent.co.uk/environment/green-living/environment-agency-investing-pension-fund-in-industries-it-regulates-is-clear-conflict-of-

130. interest-9946597.html

- 131. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- Report of Director of Public Health cabinet meeting 6 November 2014: http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/documents/b11435/Potential%20Health%20 132. Impacts%20of%20the%20Proposed%20Shale%20Gas%20Exploration%20Sites%20in%20Lancashire%2006th-Nov-2014%2014.pdf?T=9 https://darkroom.taskforceonshalegas.uk/original/4a404397432d0de3bf00268bf5b7949f;cb9c39ad61440801d4ad547d70d5fa9e/task-force-on-shale-

- 133. gas-first-interim-report.pdf
- 134. https://www.nik.gov.pl/en/news/nik-on-shale-gas-search.html http://www.industryweek.com/energy-management/seven-charged-corruption-over-shale-gas-poland and http://www.naturalgaseurope.com/tusk-
- 135. blames-poland-shale-gas-corruption
- 136. http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/08/06/us-poland-shale-idUSBRE9750B120130806
- 138. http://www.energy-daily.com/reports/Poland_to_invest_24_billion_euros_in_energy_by_2020_999.html
- 139. http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/07/10/pgnig-marketabuse-idUSL6E8IA5GM20120710 140. to_produce_shale_gas_next_year_999.html
- http://www.umwelfbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/378/publikationen/texte_83_2013_environmental_impacts_of_fracking.pdf 141
- 142. bi-ffh-harburg.de/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/20130228_Liste_der_Fracs_Nds_ab_1961.pdf 143. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/full/10.1021/acs.est.5b01921
- 144. pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=3
- 145. http://www.shale-gas-information-platform.org/areas/the-debate/shale-gas-in-germany-the-current-status.html
- 146. http://www.lbeg.niedersachsen.de/wir_ueber_uns_service/673.html
- 147. www.lbeg.niedersachsen.de
- 148. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- 149. http://www.thelocal.dk/20150513/denmark-to-allow-total-to-resume-fracking-project
- 150. http://www.worldenergyoutlook.org/media/weowebsite/2012/goldenrules/weo2012_goldenrulesreport.pdf
- 151. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/eia/sea-legalcontext.htm 152. http://www.mos.gov.pl/artykul/123_17905.html?j=en
- 153. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- 154. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014 155. http://www.zwierzyniec.lublin.lasy.gov.pl/obszary-natura-2000#.VZ_UXPmqpBc
- 156. http://www.polska.pl/en/tourism/national-parks/roztocze-national-park/
- 158. http://infolupki.pgi.gov.pl/en/environment/news/shale-gas-exploration-has-no-significant-effect-environment
- 159. Own translation http://gazlupkowy.pl/pienkowski-komisja-europejska-zmienia-zdanie-o-gazie-lupkowym/
- 160. http://gazlupkowy.pl/pienkowski-komisja-europejska-zmienia-zdanie-o-gazie-lupkowym/
- 161. technologie-dla-gazu-lupkowego/informacje-ogolne and https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/sites/default/files/ld-na-25990-en-n.pdf
- 162. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- 163. http://dip21.bundestag.de/dip21/btp/18/18105.pdf (PDF-page 28)
- 166. Granted for 5-year periods and allowing operators to start preliminary research (existing data, etc.) Correspondence with the Lower Saxony Ministry of Food, Agriculture, Consumer Protection and Rural Development: https://cloud.foeeurope.org/
- 167. index.php/s/OEDhMwfi6GGDIdI and https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/b2sVjpYZhBjNzOk
- https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
 https://www.ft.dk/samling/20091/almdel/EPU/bilag/276/index.htm
- 170. http://www.commondreams.org/views/2015/07/01/fracking-happy-people
- 172. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- 173. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- 174. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/4hgH45kN0wSXrg6
- 175. http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/10/08/lithuania-chevron-shalegas-idUSL6N0HY3C420131008
- 176. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/integration/energy/pdf/fracking%20study.pdf https://cloud.foeeurope.org/public.php?service=files&t=2bee4cefedf4bed072cd632e3ba832e6
- 177. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/public.php?service=files&t=478c24dfd0bf835c6a91b16400b7c9ac
- 178. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/eia/eia-legalcontext.htm
- 179. The maximum daily production rate of wells in the US shale reservoirs are between 115,000 and 250,000 m³
- 180. http://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?type=TA&language=EN&reference=P7-TA-2012-443
- 181. https://euobserver.com/news/122835
- 182. https://www.foeeurope.org/fracking-brussels-240714
- 183. http://bit.ly/1CUSPOW

137. http://www.foeeurope.org/carte-blanche-fracking and http://gazlupkowy.pl/pienkowski-komisja-europejska-zmienia-zdanie-o-gazie-lupkowym/

http://www.endseurope.com/33910/shale-gas-a-top-priority-for-new-polish-minister and http://www.energy-daily.com/reports/Minister_says_Poland_

354 fracks have been listed so far: http://newsroom.erdgassuche-in-deutschland.de/wp-content/uploads/Pressedossier-Fracking.pdf and http://www.

http://www.bgr.bund.de/DE/Gemeinsames/Nachrichten/Veranstaltungen/2013/GZH-Veranst/Fracking/Downloads/Hannover-Erklaerung-Finalfassung.

157. http://www.naturalgaseurope.com/exploration-shale-gas-poland-did-not-significantly-impact-environment-23293

http://shalegas-europe.eu/professor-stanislaw-nagy/, http://shalegas-europe.eu/professor-stanislaw-nagy-shale-gas-exploration-poland-now-future/, http://ik.org.pl/en/projekt/nr/5467/unconventional-gas-a-chance-for-poland-and-europe/, http://www.pgnig.pl/aktualnosci/-/news-list/id/pgnig-stawiana-wspolprace-ze-srodowiskiem-naukowym/newsGroupId/10184, http://www.lupkipolskie.pl/lupki-w-polsce/prace-badawczo-rozwojowe/polskie-

See here for licences in Lower Saxony: http://nibis.lbeg.de/cardomap3/?TH=ERLAUBNISSE and in North-Rhine Westphalia: http://www.bezreg-164. arnsberg.nrw.de/themen/e/erdgasaufsuchung_gewinnung/aufsuchungsfelder/aufsuchungsfelder_karte.pdf 165. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/JbHHc4B83cAqsSd and https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/kKWb8h4MP9zagDn

171. http://nordjyske.dk/nyheder/hjoerring-klager-til-eu-over-skifergas-ja/048f75ec-1d64-444e-a61a-eb947963bdf7/112/1513

http://www.euractiv.com/sections/energy/poland-road-eu-court-over-shale-gas-defiance-303798 http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2013-02-15/poland-plans-to-ease-environmental-rules-hindering-shale-search.html

REFERENCES

- 184. http://www.endseurope.com/30685/poland-seeks-eia-exemptions-for-shale-gas
- 185. http://www.ngsfacts.org/findawell/
- 186. http://www.shalegas.international/2015/02/27/polish-fracking-law-in-breach-of-eu-directive-european-commission-says/
- 187. http://frack-off.org.uk/fracking-yorkshire-rathlin-energys-plans-revealed/
- 188. Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011, Schedule 2(2)(2)
- 189. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/c72N3k6SeSDkqDB
- 190. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- 191. excluding the countries which banned fracking
- 192. http://www.nuevatribuna.es/articulo/medio-ambiente/medio-ambiente-sometera-el-fracking-a-evaluacion-ambiental/20130422135856091172.html
- 193. http://www.boe.es/buscar/act.php?id=BOE-A-2008-1405
- 194. http://www.counter-balance.org/the-castor-project/
- 195. http://www.ecologistasenaccion.org/IMG/pdf/evaluacion_riesgo_ambiental.pdf
- 196. http://www.ecologistasenaccion.org/article26664.html
- 197. http://www.ecologistasenaccion.org/article26664.html
- 198. http://www.ecologistasenaccion.org/article30090.html
- https://darkroom.taskforceonshalegas.uk/original/4a404397432d0de3bf00268bf5b7949f:cb9c39ad61440801d4ad547d70d5fa9e/task-force-on-shalegas-first-interim-report.pdf
- 199. http://www3.lancashire.gov.uk/corporate/news/press_releases/y/m/release.asp?id=201407&r=PR14/0317
- 200. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/c72N3k6SeSDkqDB
- 201. https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/standard-rules-consultation-no11-new-standard-rules-for-onshore-oil-and-gas-activities
- 202. http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/minerals/
- 203. http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/a346b038-4114-11e5-b98b-87c7270955cf.html
- 204. http://www.foeeurope.org/Solidarity-with-Pungesti-071213 http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2013/dec/05/protesters-chevron-shale-gasfracking-romania
- 205. http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/delivering-sustainable-development/13-facilitating-thesustainable-use-of-minerals/
- 206. http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmhansrd/cm150211/debtext/150211-0004.htm#150211100000002
- 207. http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/feb/12/fracking-will-be-allowed-under-national-parks
 208. http://yorkshireandhumber.greenparty.org.uk/news.html/2014/08/29/hull-greens-call-on-council-to-respond-to-fracking-threat/
- 209. http://www.bundesrat.de/SharedDocs/drucksachen/2015/0101-0200/143-15%28B%29.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=1 and http://www.bundesrat.de/ SharedDocs/drucksachen/2015/0101-0200/142-15%28B%29.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=1
- 210. http://dipbt.bundestag.de/doc/btd/18/049/1804949.pdf and http://www.bmwi.de/BMWi/Redaktion/PDF/G/gegenaeusserung-bundesregierungstellungnahme-bundesrat-entwurf-gesetz-ausdehnung-bergschadenshaftung-bohrlochbergbau-kavernen, property=pdf, bereich=bmwi2012,sprache=de,rwb=true.pdf
- 211. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- 212. http://www6.mityc.es/aplicaciones/energia/hidrocarburos/petroleo/exploracion2011/mapas/inicio.html http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/figures/overlay-of-the-natura-2000
- http://www.ecologistasenaccion.org/article29471.html
- 213. http://www.resolution-korbach.org/files/korbacher-resolution/aktuell/Fracking-Regelungspaket_Beschluesse-BR_08.05.15_AndyGheorghiu.pdf
- 214. Official written answer of the Ministry of the Economy of Lower Saxony: https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/iFmZe6wP2KBRiPS
- 215. http://www.ngsfacts.org/
- 216. http://www.who.int/ipcs/emergencies/kerosene.pdf
- 217. http://www.opppw.pl/en/fracturing_fluid_composition/23
- http://www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/newsbysector/energy/8864669/Cuadrilla-admits-drilling-caused-Blackpool-earthquakes.html
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15745/5075-preese-hall-shale-gas-fracturing-review.pdf
- 220. http://www.foe.co.uk/blog/condition-uk-fracking-wells-questioned
- 221. http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2013/mar/13/fracking-cuadrilla-halts-operations-lancashire
- 222. http://www.pgi.gov.pl/en/all-events/4087-environmental-impact-hydraulic-fracturing-lebien.html
- 223. To be fair, the Commission's Recommendation does not offer any useful guidelines on this issues of wastewater injection, focusing instead on how to minimize the risk of fracking leading to induced seismicity, requiring operators to carry out a characterisation and risk assessment of the underground area (point 5.1). Such a risk assessment should "anticipate the changing behaviour of the target formation, geological layers separating the reservoir from groundwater and existing wells or other manmade structures exposed to the high injection pressures used in high volume hydraulic fracturing and the volumes of fluids injected". It is unclear whether the "volumes of fluid injected" also encompass wastewater injection.
- 224. http://www.sciencemag.org/content/348/6241/1336.full
- http://advances.sciencemag.org/content/advances/1/5/e1500195.full.pdf
- 225. http://www.foodandwaterwatch.org/briefs/fracking-and-earthquakes/
- http://www.loodanarate/mater.org/sheen/adatage and caraquated.
 http://epa.gov/gasstar/documents/workshops/farmington-2010/08_recs_farmington_nm_final.pdf http://www.ipieca.org/energyefficiency/solutions/78161
- 227. http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/jan/13/obama-state-of-the-union-methane-regulation-climate-change http://www.reuters.com/article/2015/08/18/us-usa-climatechange-methane-idUSKCN0QN1PA20150818

- php/s/jAhFB8nQSYeasMZ and https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/u5KoyHRWSBcAHI9 and https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/ oi5QGFaG1xbbHAZ
- 229. http://blogs.scientificamerican.com/plugged-in/north-dakota-flared-off-1-billion-worth-of-natural-gas-last-year/
- 230. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/277219/Air.pdf 231. http://concernedhealthny.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/CHPNY-Fracking-Compendium.pdf
- 232. http://dialog-erdgasundfrac.de/protokoll-fachgespraech-fracking-haftungs-versicherungsfragen
- 233. http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2013-06-06/drillers-silence-fracking-claims-with-sealed-settlem
- 234. https://ec.europa.eu/eusurvey/publication/ShalegasRec2014
- index.php/s/kPoblCND4LZgMmE https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/etDHpVgnW2dRBo0
- 238. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/rE5SzsKZhJAgU0F
- 239. https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/rE5SzsKZhJAgU0F
- 240. http://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?type=REPORT&reference=A7-2012-0283&language=EN
- 241. https://www.foeeurope.org/fracking-brussels-240714
- 242. http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2011/03/03/us/20110303-natural-gas-timeline.html?_r=1& http://www.nytimes.com/2009/11/03/opinion/03tue3.html
- 243. http://www.worldenergyoutlook.org/goldenrules/
- 244. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52014SC0021
- 245. http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2011-11-29/shale-gas-drilling-cost-in-poland-triple-u-s-schlumberger-says.html

- 248. http://www.reporterre.net/spip.php?article4935
- 249. http://www.reuters.com/article/2015/06/05/us-conoco-poland-shalegas-idUSKBN0OL1KY20150605
- 251. http://www.naturalgaseurope.com/marathon-departure-another-setback-to-polish-shale-gas-industry
- 252. http://www.naturalgaseurope.com/exxon-withdraws-poland-shale-gas
- 253. http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/8da7841a-7df1-11e3-95dd-00144feabdc0.html#axzz3KkmFYqJk
- 254. http://www.naturalgaseurope.com/report-talisman-to-pull-out-of-poland-shale-gas

228. Official answers of the German Government to written inquiries of the office of MP Julia Verlinden: https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index

235. The 3 contracts between Chevron and the National Agency for Mineral Resources signed for the 3 perimeters in Dobrogea (Adamclisi, Costinesti and Vama Veche) - In the definition given of "natural gas" on page 7 of each contract, the words " gaze neconventionale" (unconventional gas) is added, meaning that natural gas includes also unconventional gas: https://cloud.foeeurope.org/index.php/s/DL9xW1QAgnVHDIx https://cloud.foeeurope.org/

236. http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2015/jan/19/uk-shale-gas-revolution-falls-flat-just-11-new-wells-planned-2015 237. http://www.resolution-korbach.org/files/korbacher-resolution/aktuell/Fracking-Regelungspaket_Beschluesse-BR_08.05.15_AndyGheorghiu.pdf

246. http://www.kpmg.com/Global/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/shale-gas/Pages/shale-gas-development-inevitable.aspx 247. http://www.oxfordenergy.org/2010/12/can-unconventional-gas-be-a-game-changer-in-european-gas-markets/

250. http://en.skifergas.dk/shale-gas-in-denmark/shale-gas-news/shale-gas-exploration-in-nordsjaelland-discontinued.aspx



Friends of the Earth Europe and Food & Water Europe would like to warmly thank Jake White, Tony Bosworth, Andy Gheorghiu, Eddie Mitchell, Tom White, Ewa Sufin-Jacquemart, Oana Catalina Poenaru, Alejandro González and Samuel Martín-Sosa Rodríguez for their support and high-quality work. This report could not have existed without their amazing contributions.